## Old Dominion University ODU Digital Commons

Educational Foundations & Leadership Theses & Dissertations

Educational Foundations & Leadership

Fall 2014

# Impact of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill: An Examination of Retention of First Year Students in the Hampton Roads Area

Kim B. Sibson Old Dominion University, ksibson@odu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/efl\_etds Part of the <u>Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons</u>, and the <u>Higher</u> <u>Education Commons</u>

**Recommended** Citation

Sibson, Kim B.. "Impact of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill: An Examination of Retention of First Year Students in the Hampton Roads Area" (2014). Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), dissertation, Educ Foundations & Leadership, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/zgqf-wn34

 $https://digital commons.odu.edu/efl\_etds/62$ 

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Educational Foundations & Leadership at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Educational Foundations & Leadership Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.

# IMPACT OF THE POST-9/11 G.I. BILL: AN EXAMINATION OF RETENTION OF FIRST YEAR STUDENTS STUDYING IN THE HAMPTON ROADS AREA

by

Kim Bullington Sibson

B.A. December 1998, Old Dominion UniversityM.A. August 2006, Old Dominion UniversityEd.S. December 2010, Old Dominion University

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Old Dominion University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

#### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

HIGHER EDUCATION

OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY December 2014

Approved by:

Dennis E. Gregory (Director)

Pilar Pazos (Member)

Kathleen B. Levingston (Member)

#### ABSTRACT

# IMPACT OF THE POST-9/11 G.I. BILL: AN EXAMINATION OF THE RETENTION OF FIRST YEAR STUDENTS STUDYING IN THE HAMPTON ROADS AREA

Kim Bullington Sibson Old Dominion University, 2014 Director: Dr. Dennis E. Gregory

The Post-9/11 G.I. Bill has had a tremendous impact on higher education institutions (HEI) across the country. As of 2011, the Veterans Administration (VA) had issued G.I. Bill payments to almost 500,000 veterans. This research examines the effect of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill on student retention in different types of HEIs in the Hampton Roads region of Southeastern Virginia, an area that has a high number of military and military-affiliated residents. Ex post facto data from various institutions have been compared, with a public university, a for-profit college, and a two-year public community college to examine the retention rates of first year students using their Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefits between 2009 and 2010. This research contributes to the literature in several ways. First, the G.I. Bill, passed in 1944 has had limited research associated with its usage in colleges and universities (DiRamio, Ackerman, & Mitchell, 2008; Rumann, 2009). Second, with the advent of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, administrators of HEIs and the federal government are examining this law in two ways: the administrators are examining the amount of money coming in from this benefit and the federal government is examining the number of dollars going out to HEIs. Third, research that has been

conducted on the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill deals primarily with qualitative data; this quantitative research will provide benchmark areas for other HEIs to compare themselves as the Hampton Roads region is well represented through the use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill (Stripling, 2010).

Keywords: veteran, military, G.I. Bill, higher education institutions, first year student, retention, persistence, progression.

Copyright, 2014, by Kim Bullington Sibson, All Rights Reserved.

To my parents, Jim and Tuy-Cam Bullington for always believing in me. To my husband, Steve, and my sons Kevin and Oliver, for putting up with me on this wild ride.

- and -

To those who have walked with me along this path, I thank you for your part in my journey.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

How does one even begin to thank those who helped someone survive a dissertation? A written thank you hardly seems adequate.

First, I must thank my dissertation advisory team. First is my advisor, Dr. Dennis Gregory. Not only did he mentor me throughout this process, he has proven to be a mentor, a travelling companion, a writing partner, and his guidance has been invaluable. Dr. Pilar Pazos has also shown patience with me, helping me really knock out my methodology and statistical analysis. Without her, I would most likely be still wondering how to analyze these data! Dr. Kathleen Levingston, my friend and final committee member, has been through a lot with me. Her dedication to military students is unparalleled. Without this team behind me, I may not have made this a successful journey.

Second, to my fellow doctoral students who helped push me through. Dr. David Thomas, who I convinced to pursue this Ph.D. with me, is someone I could not have done this without. His continued support and help wordsmithing this document was also invaluable. Another travel partner, and my "work husband", Dr. Brian Kurisky's drive is like no others. Brian pushed me to keep up with him at every step, and for that I thank him. Dr. Krista Harrell was definitely the voice of sanity in our little ragtag cohort and, trust me, we needed that sanity! Bill Nuckols, even though you came after, and had lofty ideas that we will never forget, I do not doubt that you will achieve those goals. Joe Dobrota, thank you for all of your Facebook instant messages that kept me going. Chevella Baker, from our time in "the hood" to where we are now, who would have thought that we would ever be this educated? Third, I could not have done this without the support of friends who made sure I was progressing with my work. Joe Mota, my constant companion, was always there to make sure I was working on this dissertation every second I had. I am proud to say that I, too, know Joe Mota. To my Sisters, Corinne Forzano, Michelle Shea, and Lisa Jean Bair, I give my humble thanks. To my newest Sister, Desiree Ellison, who calls me a mentor but also serves as one of mine, I thank for believing in me and helping me reach my greatest potential. To Sigma Pi, Theta-Eta Chapter, you gave me a sense of purpose again. I am so grateful for the opportunity to work with this excellent group of men. Thank you also to Kim Miller who very patiently listened to my dissertation proposal three times and provided very insightful feedback.

Finally to my family, I give my thanks. My parents, who always pushed me to be better than I am, were constant sources of support. My husband, Steve, who spent countless nights with our son so that I could go to classes or work on this dissertation, has been an amazing partner. My children, Kevin and Oliver, always light up my life.

I am sure there are many more to whom I owe my gratitude; please do not consider it a slight for not naming you. There are just too many to thank.

### NOMENCLATURE

ACE	American Council on Education
DEA	Dependents' Educational Assistance Program, Chapter 35
DoD	Department of Defense
G.I. Bill	Veterans benefits used for postsecondary education from the US
	Department of Veterans Affairs
HEI	Higher Education Institution
IRB	Institutional Review Board
MGIB	Montgomery G.I. Bill, Chapter 30
Post-9/11 G.I. Bill	Post-9/11 Veterans Educational Assistance Act of 2008, Chapter 33
РМС	Postwar Manpower Conference
REAP	Reserve Educational Assistance Program, Chapter 1607
ROTC	Reserve Officers' Training Corps
SCHEV	State Council of Higher Education for Virginia
SPSS	IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
VA	US Department of Veterans Affairs
VSO	Veterans Services Officer
VEAP	Post-Vietnam Veterans' Educational Assistance Program

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	xvi
Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE STATEMENT	1
Purpose Statement	7
Research Questions	7
Significance	8
Research Design	. 12
Data Collection	. 13
Data Analysis	. 13
Conclusion and Dissertation Outline	. 14
Chapter 2 RETENTION, PERSISTENCE, AND PROGRESSION OF VETERANS A	ND
MILITARY-AFFILIATED BENEFICIARIES OF THE G.I. BILL	. 15
Student Retention	. 16
Tinto's (1993) Effective Retention Strategies	. 24
Adult Students	. 25
Military (and Military-affiliated) Students	. 29
The G.I. Bill (1944-1984)	. 34
The Post-9/11 G.I. Bill	. 44

The Effect of Veterans Benefits and the G.I. Bill on Higher Education	
Veteran Retention	
Students Using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill for Postsecondary Education	
Conclusion	58
Chapter 3 METHOD	59
Research Design	63
Study Population	64
Data Collection Procedures	67
Data Analysis	
Limitations	71
Summary	
Chapter 4 FINDINGS	
All Institutions	
Frequency and Retention for All Institutions	
Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention for All Ir	istitutions
Summary	
Institution One	
Frequency and Retention for Institution One	

Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention for Institution One
Institution Two
Frequency and Retention for Institution Two
Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention for Institution Two
Institution Three
Frequency and Retention for Institution Three
Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention
Analysis of Significant Predictors of Retention100
Significant Predictors of Retention for Institution One 101
Significant Predictors of Retention for Institution Two 102
Significant Predictors of Retention for Institution Three 104
Comparison of the Demographic Factors of Retention for the General Population of
Students to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill Students 105
Conclusion
Chapter 5 CONCLUSION 113
Research Questions
Discussion of Research Findings 114
Research Question One116

Research Question Two 118
Research Question Three 120
Research Question Four
Research Question Five
Implications
Recommendations for Further Research
Concluding Remarks
REFERENCES
Appendix A IRB APPROVAL
VITA

# LIST OF TABLES

Table Page
1.1 Veterans' Education Levels as Compared to the U.S. Population
2.1 Selected Characteristics of Veterans' Education Benefit Programs (Period of Service
and Use)
2.2 Selected Characteristics of Veterans' Education Benefit Programs (Highest Benefit
and Contribution)
2.3 Selected Characteristics of Veterans' Education Benefit Programs (Service Length,
Time Limitations)
4.1 Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009
4.2 G.I. Bill Usage – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009
4.3 Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009
4.4 Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009
4.5 Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010
4.6 G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010
4.7 Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010
4.8 Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010
4.9 Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression
4.10 Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression
4.11 I1 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009
4.12 I1 - G.I. Bill Usage – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009 82
4.13 I1 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009
4.14 I1 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

4.15 I1 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	84
4.16 I1 - G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	84
4.17 I1 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	85
4.18 I1 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	85
4.19 I1 - Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression	86
4.20 I1 - Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression	87
4.21 I2 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	89
4.22 I2 - G.I. Bill Usage – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	89
4.23 I2 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	89
4.24 I2 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	90
4.25 I2 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	91
4.26 I2 - G.I. Bill Usage – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	91
4.27 I2 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	91
4.28 I2 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	92
4.29 I2 - Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression	92
4.30 I2 - Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression	93
4.31 I3 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	95
4.32 I3 - G.I. Bill Usage – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	95
4.33 I3 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	96
4.34 I3 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009	96
4.35 I3 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	97
4.36 I3 - G.I. Bill Usage – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	97
4.37 I3 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010	98

4.38 I3 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010
4.39 I3 - Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression
4.40 I3 - Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression 100
4.41 General Population of First Year Students as Compared to the Population of Post-
9/11 G.I. Bill Beneficiaries 106
4.42 Logistic Regression Results for the General Population of Students 108
4.43 Logistic Regression Results for Users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill Benefit 109
4.44 Initial Regression Compared to the Binary Analysis111
4.45 Binary Analysis Retention Rate Comparison 112
4.46 Comparison of First Year Student Retention112
5.1 Comparison of First Year Students in the U.S., Virginia, and the Study Population 115

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.1 Veteran's Ethnic Diversity	2
1.2 Participants in VA Education Programs by Fiscal Year	
2.1 Tinto's (1975, 1987, 1993) Student Integration Model	
2.2 A Timeline of Veterans Benefits	

#### **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE STATEMENT**

#### Introduction

The Post-9/11 G.I. Bill was introduced as the Post-9/11 Veterans Educational Assistance Act of 2008 (Pub. L. 110-252, H.R. 2642). It is a bi-partisan effort to encourage active duty military members to be retained longer in the armed forces. It also aims to provide a solution to rising costs of college tuition and day-to-day living expenses the former Montgomery G.I. Bill (MGIB) can no longer maintain (Korb, Duggan, Juul, & Bergmann, 2009). Additionally, this legislation has created a surge in enrollment in colleges and universities across the nation. As of Spring 2011, almost 500,000 servicemembers, veterans, or dependents had used G.I. Bill benefits (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011b). Administrators in higher education must be prepared to take on these students who have diverse and differing needs from other student populations. A thorough understanding of the needs of these students is needed to identify the factors driving student academic success and to ascertain whether the Bill has had any effect on retention of student in colleges and universities. Questions need to be asked such as whether the financial support provided by the Bill, or other traditional retention factors such as outside influences and academic difficulties, have an impact on student retention in HEIs.

The 2010 census revealed that there are 21.8 million living veterans in the United States. Ethnically, these are comprised 17,700,000 non-Hispanic White; 2,300,000 Black; 1,700,500 Hispanic; 258,000 Asian; 153,000 American Indian or Alaskan Native;

and 30,000 Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander servicemembers, as shown in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1 Veteran's Ethnic Diversity

With regard to gender, males comprise the majority with 20,200,000 to 1,600,000 females. Physically, 5,500,000 veterans hold a disability rating. Of those, 3,300,000 are service-connected disabilities, and 652,000 are rated at 70% disabled or higher (United States Census Bureau, 2010).

There are over 1.4 million active-duty personnel in the Army, Navy, Marine Corps, and the Air Force; 42,389 active duty Coast Guard personnel; 25 million veterans; and over one million reservists and National Guard members (U.S. Coast Guard, 2010; U.S. Department of Defense, 2010). Figure 1.2 shows the usage of G.I. Bill benefits by all eligible servicemembers, veterans, and their dependents from 2001 to 2010, an astonishing 101.20% increase. Baker (2008) reported that 400,000 students were enrolled in undergraduate and graduate programs in off-duty voluntary education and 39,070 degrees were awarded to voluntary education participants. The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) has additionally issued over \$8.57 billion in Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit payments to 464,000 veterans (Wilson, 2011). In Spring 2010, the VA paid money to over 340,272 recipients (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011b), in Spring 2011, through February 14<sup>th</sup>, over 321,500 students enrolled and were claiming VA benefits and this number is still growing (Wilson, 2011). It is important to remember that it is not only veterans who are using G.I. Bill benefits, but also active duty and reserve servicemembers and their dependents (i.e. spouses and dependent children).



Figure 1.2 Participants in VA Education Programs by Fiscal Year.

Nine out of 10 enlisted servicemembers entered the military without a bachelor's degree (McBain, 2008). In 2007-2008, 43% of veterans attended two-year colleges; 21% attended public four-year institutions, 14% attended private non-profit institutions, and 13% attended for-profit colleges (Radford & Wun, 2009).

Patterson (1996) states that the original 1944 G.I. Bill is the "most significant development in the modern history of American education" (p. 69). It entitled returning veterans to receive money for tuition and books, as well as a monthly stipend to support themselves while enrolled in college, and low-interest loans for home purchases. "Veterans were older, better motivated, and included among their total 10 per cent who would not have gone to college without the G.I. Bill and another 10 per cent who 'probably' would not have done so"(Olson, 1973, p.605).

In order to address deficiencies in the MGIB due to ever increasing numbers of veterans, ongoing US involvement in overseas conflicts since 2001, and rising tuition costs, Senators Jim Webb (D-VA), Frank Lautenberg (D-NJ), Chuck Hagel (R-NE), and John Warner (R-VA) came together in a bipartisan effort to introduce the Post-9/11 Veterans Educational Assistance Act of 2008, more commonly referred to as the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, or Chapter 33. In short, this Bill provides more flexibility in education benefits, supplies students with different payment incentives (such as book stipends, which were incidentally offered in a later version of the MGIB), and allows for dependents and spouses to also benefit from servicemembers and veterans' sacrifices for their country. Most importantly it affords servicemembers and veterans the chance to continue their education without having to rely on additional student loans to survive (Rash, Skinner, Cline, & Blanch, 2008). Although the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill is more

generous than the MGIB, it is still not as generous as the original 1944 G.I. Bill, in monetary terms (Radford, 2009). The Post-9/11 G.I. Bill offers an opportunity for servicemembers and veterans alike to attend college with a more comprehensive and larger benefits package that is not only available to them, but also to their dependents (spouses and children).

The critical retention period for students in postsecondary education is generally viewed as being during the transition from freshman-to-sophomore status as the period during which most students encounter difficulties adjusting to college (Astin, 1993; Hagedorn, 2005; Tinto, 1975, 1993). Persisting from the first to second year of college has been an issue that has been researched for decades; however there is no known research that specifically examines persistence or retention of students using G.I. Bill benefits., which creates a significant gap in the literature The 2010 U.S. Census additionally reported a "veteran is more likely than the average American to have earned a high school diploma, but less likely to have completed a college degree" (U.S. Census Bureau, 2012, n.p.). This is significant because in order to enlist in the military a high school diploma or equivalent is necessary; this may be considered a confounding factor as some are not using the G.I. Bill benefits.

#### Table 1.1

#### Veterans' Education Levels as Compared to the U.S. Population

	High School Diploma	Bachelor's Degree
Veterans	92%	26%
Total U.S. Population	86%	28%

For the purposes of this study, the following terms are defined as follows:

- US Armed Forces. Branches of the US military: Air Force, Army, Coast Guard, Navy, Marines
- *Servicemembers*. Currently employed full-time in one of the branches of the US Armed Forces
- *Veterans.* Previously employed in one of the branches of the US Armed Forces
- *Reserves*. Currently employed part-time in one of the branches of the US Armed Forces.
- *Military-Affiliated*. A servicemember, veteran, reservist, or family member (spouse or child(ren)).
- *Veterans Administration (VA).* The Federal authority that provides benefits to former members of the military.
- *Retention/Persistence*. Enrolling in college and remaining enrolled through graduation (Hagedorn, 2005). For the purposes of this study, retention is defined as a student attending a college or university starting with 0 (zero) to 23 credits

and remaining enrolled and completing 24 or more institutionally granted (nontransferred) credit hours, putting them into federally-defined sophomore status.

- *Attrition/Dropout*. Attrition/dropout is the inverse of retention (Hagedorn, 2005)
- *Progression.* Moving from one class rank the next (e.g. freshman to sophomore, sophomore to junior, junior to senior, senior to alumnus).
- *General Student Population*. (GenPop) Students who, in this study, do not have access or have chosen not to use the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.
- *First Year Student*. A student in his or her first year at an institution. The student may have no previous college or may have transfer, military, or experiential credit awarded.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this exploratory study is to use an *ex post facto* data comparison to examine the retention of first year students who are benefitting from the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Data were gathered from a public four-year university, a public two-year community college, and a proprietary/for-profit university in the Hampton Roads region of Southeastern Virginia.

#### **Research Questions**

The following research questions guided the study:

 What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in the Hampton Roads region? This question prompts secondary questions for each of the postsecondary institutions being studied.

- 2. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a public university in the Hampton Roads region?
- 3. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public college in the Hampton Roads region?
- 4. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a for-profit college in the Hampton Roads region?

A final research question allows for a comparison of populations:

5. What are the demographic factors of retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries?

In order for the most rigorous study possible, it is necessary to find the predictors of first to second year student retention for the general student population and then drill down to compare the G.I. Bill beneficiary population to the general population of returning first year students.

#### Significance

The U.S. Department of Education provided \$132 billion in grants and loans to students in 2009-2010 and the U.S. Congress has become increasingly interested in student outcomes and success at for-profit, nonprofit, private, and public schools (U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2011). The United States Government

Accountability Office released a report in December 2011. The report found that forprofit institutions had lower graduation rates for bachelor's degree programs, higher rates of unemployment for graduates, more student loan debt, higher loan default rates, and lower pass rates than did nonprofit private and public institutions (U.S. Government Accountability Office, 2011). This highlights the fact that there needs to be more stratified examinations of institutions across the board. Moreover, the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill will cost the U.S. Government approximately \$76 billion over ten years (National Science Foundation, 2009); this will increase calls for accountability and transparency from not only elected officials, but from the population at large.

This study is significant as the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill is still in its infancy and its impact is not widely known. According to the Student Veterans Association, student veterans on campus will almost double in the next five years (Reynolds, 2013). As the Bill gains popularity among eligible veterans, servicemembers, and dependents, the U.S. Government and the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) will be closely scrutinizing the effect and success of the Bill because it is dependent on tax payer dollars. In early 2013, Congress approved legislation requiring institutions of higher education to be more transparent regarding veterans via the *Comprehensive Veterans Education Information Policy* (P.L. 112-249). This law requires institutions to provide information to not only veterans, but to be transparent and accountable with enrollment, graduation, and retention rates. With more and more calls for accountability (Fain, 2013; Grasgreen, 2013), higher education must respond and show what services they are providing for veterans, and how they are tracking enrolled students and ensuring their highest rates of success.

In 2008, more than five years before the formal withdrawal of troops from Iraq, the Department of Defense (DoD) anticipated an influx of 2 million veterans of the Iraqi and Afghanistan conflicts. These students were attracted to the benefits of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill to be returning or coming to America's colleges and universities (American Council on Education, 2008). For example, Virginia's Germanna Community College's enrollment increased by 21% (Germanna Community College President's Blog, 2009). In a letter to higher education executives, the Under Secretary of Veterans Affairs for Benefits indicated that as of September 11, 2009, in its first month of implementation, the VA had received 260,000 claims for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill (Dunne, 2009; McBain, 2009). For the entire academic year of 2007-2008, 440,000 servicemembers used G.I. Bill benefits (Marklein, 2007), from May 1, 2009 through April 1, 2010, the VA received over 578,000 enrollment certifications (Wilson, 2010).

The first year of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill was assessed by the RAND Corporation (Steele, Salcedo, & Coley, 2010). The study found that the G.I. Bill was a motivating reason for veterans in pursuing higher education. Some of the more appealing factors include the living allowance and the fact that payments are sent directly to the HEIs. Challenges to using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill include lack of knowledge about benefits, claims processing delays, and transfer of military credits to college credits. The study also found that although students reported transition difficulties, other veterans provided support they needed, as did various campus officials. More recently, the Gallup Politics Group ran a poll of 1,268 veterans which showed that eight out of ten veterans were either very satisfied or satisfied with their education benefits and that three out ten veterans have used education benefits via the G.I. Bill (Saad, 2014).

States and individual institutions also play an important role in the execution of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. In-state tuition for veterans and servicemembers often plays a key role in whether or not a student enrolls in an HEI. Students are often frustrated by the amount of red tape they encounter when trying to be admitted and register. Moreover, they are daunted by the difference between themselves and their civilian counterparts and face informational, financial, cultural, and injury- and/or trauma-related barriers that traditional students do not necessarily have to face (McBain, 2008). Student frustration with administrative processes can also influence student attrition.

Research on veterans also shows that colleges and universities are failing to track student retention and success. It was found that 68% of colleges do not specifically track retention and graduation rates for veteran undergraduate students (McBain, Kim, Cook, & Snead, 2012). Data from McBain et al. (2012) also show that only 25% of colleges have some level of understanding on why veterans drop out but only 5% have data that show their retention efforts are working. Regarding advising and mentoring, 63% offer dedicated services for veteran students by administrators who understand the specific needs of this population, such as veteran-knowledgeable advisors, Veterans Affairs Certifying Officials, counselors trained in dealing with PTSD and TBIs specific to combat veterans, etc. While there is beginning to be an acknowledgment of current veteran students and their needs, this acknowledgement is still new in terms of understanding what drives retention of these students.

Retention of all students is directly correlated to involvement. Astin's (1993) involvement theory is defined as both the "quantity and quality of the physical and psychological energy that students invest in the college experience" (p. 528). This

becomes more difficult as an adult or non-traditional student, who has lived a different life than those who went straight to college from high school. Military veterans and servicemembers have had very different experiences than their civilian counterparts, particularly those who have experienced combat situations. Special attention should be paid to this population to encourage involvement with the institution. One way would be to offer a student organization, such as a military student club, where students can come together to share their experiences, give to each other, and give back to the communities in which they go to school, work, and live. Students who are involved generally have better experiences in college and there is no reason that former or current military students cannot benefit from the same experiences.

In the last 50 years, there has been much research on retention of students in colleges and universities. However, there is a noticeable lack of research conducted focusing on the retention of veterans, particularly those using veteran's benefits to pursue their education. Moreover, in terms of retention, it has been suggested that the G.I. Bill alone is not sufficient to support access and retention; veterans need more support systems in place to be successful as students (Smith-Osborne, 2009). This study will open the pathway for the research of an important, underserved, and rapidly increasing student population.

#### **Research Design**

A quantitative *ex-post facto* research design was selected for this study. This approach is appropriate because since the groups being studied already exist, random assignment is not possible (Breakwell, Hammond, Fife-Schaw, & Smith, 2006; Cooper & Schindler, 2001; Schenker & Rumrill, 2004; Sukhia, Mehrotra, & Mehrotra, 1966). An

*ex post facto* design also allows for investigating possible cause and effect relationships (Cohen, Manion, & Morrison, 2007) and allows for the observation of pre-existing variables under normal conditions (Lord, 1973).

#### **Data Collection**

As the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill is still in its infancy, the data in this study will only be able to provide a snapshot of two years of retention data. The researcher worked with the data reporting offices of a public four-year university, a public two-year community college, and a for-profit four year university. Since all of these colleges and universities are in the Commonwealth of Virginia, there will be common reporting elements as they all must report specific data to the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia (SCHEV) and the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges (SACS-COC).

#### **Data Analysis**

The dependent variable that guided this study was retention. The covariates included demographic information (gender, ethnicity, age), and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

The data analysis included determining the factors for retention for all students at each of the institutions under investigation. This allowed for a comparison of students in the general population with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries. This was accomplished through logistic regression for the dependent variable and covariates, as well as  $\chi^2$  tests to examine the significance of the control factors. The values of the coefficients will be used to infer and describe relationships, if any are found.

#### **Conclusion and Dissertation Outline**

The transition from soldier to scholar remains difficult. Students are faced with many obstacles, some of which seem insurmountable; however, the new Post-9/11 G.I. Bill provides opportunities for servicemembers, veterans, and their dependents to attend a higher education institution that meets their educational needs and helps them achieve their educational desires. It is vital for higher education institutions to understand how the new G.I. Bill will impact student retention, progression, and persistence, particularly in the highly volatile first to second year phase so that further efforts can be made to retain students through graduation.

Chapter One, Introduction, of this dissertation has discussed the background and significance for this study. Chapter Two, Literature Review showcases past literature on the government funding for military education, the G.I. Bill, and student retention, in general and as it pertains to veterans. Chapter Three, Method, shows how and why the data were analyzed. Chapter Four, Findings, presents the findings from the data. Finally, Chapter Five, Conclusion, presents concluding remarks, implications, and directions for future research.

14

## CHAPTER 2 RETENTION, PERSISTENCE, AND PROGRESSION OF VETERANS AND MILITARY-AFFILIATED BENEFICIARIES OF THE G.I. BILL

There have been many studies on student retention in the last 60 years, as this subject has become an increasing concern on college campuses in the United States and around the world. Colleges and universities typically propose data-driven decision making solutions and ask questions such as why students are not graduating in four years, or why a certain percentage of students progressed on to the next year of study. The average departure rate for first year students is 25% (Budden, Hsing, Budden, & Hall, 2010) and there are also concerns that culture and minority status affects progression of students (Abrego, Morgan, & Abrego, 2009; Harbrecht, Neidermeyer, & Tuten, 2006; Rivas, Sauer, Glynn, & Miller, 2007; Roach, 2008).

Persistence, in higher education, is defined as continued enrollment through graduation (Barefoot, 2004). Progression is defined as completion of the year and advancing to the next status (i.e. freshman to sophomore, sophomore to junior, etc.) (Cave, 2006). Most universities fail to graduate more than 65% of their undergraduates in the six year cycle which represents a decline in retention and graduation rates from 20 years ago (Bowen, Chingos, & McPherson, 2009). Six year attainment rates for students who began college or university in the 2003-2004 academic year at any institution show that 49% had received a certificate, associate's degree, or a bachelor's degree; 15% were still currently enrolled; and 35% had neither received a degree nor were they enrolled at any HEI (Radford, Berkner, Wheeless, & Shepherd, 2010).

With an increase in adult students (over 25 years old) attending college and university campuses, research is becoming more prevalent on adult students' needs, but there are still gaps that have not been addressed (Fincher, 2010), particularly within certain subpopulations. One of these subpopulations, veterans, has recently become of significant interest in the United States because of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

Veterans Administration officials say they don't track retention rates or even know exactly how many Iraq and Afghanistan veterans are currently using GI Bill benefits to attend college. But they, too, applaud the effort to help returning soldiers earn their degrees. (Zdechlik, 2005, n.p.)

There remains a dearth of research and literature on students as veterans and their retention, persistence, and progression through graduation (DiRamio et al., 2008; Rumann, 2009).

#### **Student Retention**

Retention did not become of great concern to colleges and universities until the 1970s, and this occurred then specifically for three reasons. First, states mandated that higher education massify, meaning provide tertiary education to over 50% of the population (Kember, 2010); second, there was a call to invest in learning as it contributed to national welfare. Finally, due to inflation, budget cuts, and the end of the Draft, HEIs had to change their approach to recruiting and retaining students (Thelin, 2010). In the 1980s, with increasing accountability in intercollegiate athletics, academic performance once again became a hot topic as HEIs were receiving increasing levels of federal financial assistance. The Student Athlete Right-to-Know and Campus Security Act (P.L.

101-542) requires HEIs to report graduation rates of student athletes; this extends to all student athlete data that are used to provide a baseline for the entire student body.

The study of retention of students in higher education, as a whole, is based primarily on Durkheim's (1961) work on suicide which examined sense of belonging: when someone feels membership in a group and when they have supportive friends, they are less likely to commit suicide. Moreover, the more regulated a society the more likely suicide is because of a higher chance of alienation if one does not conform to societal norms; conversely the opposite is true, the lack of regulation that isolation brings, which can create a lack of discipline, or feelings that no one cares, can cause people to commit suicide. This idea can be directly related to retention, persistence, and progression of students in higher education because of the idea of membership and non-membership in a supportive society, in this case, on a college or university campus, and the correlating decrease in the likelihood of suicide, or in the case of colleges and universities, attrition.

Retention is directly related to persistence and progression; if a student is not retained, the student does not persist or progress. There are several models that deal with predicting retention, persistence, and progression of students through higher education. Spady's (1970) model indicates that students who share group values and friendship have higher social integration, thus experiencing higher satisfaction in education and stronger institutional commitment that their non-involved out-group counterparts. He examined characteristics such as family background, academic potential, and socioeconomic status as well as negative and positive grade performance and intellectual development. Spady (1971) found that satisfaction with an institution does not directly correlate to dropout rates, but is indirectly related to dropout rates through the level of commitment to the

institution. Sewell and Hauser's (1972) model has eleven independent variables that have some effect on student attrition, whether direct or indirect, on educational success: father's education, mother's education, father's occupation, parental income, mental ability, high school grades, teachers' encouragement, parental encouragement, friends' plans, college plans, and occupational aspiration. This model explains the process of degree attainment in three spheres: educational, occupational, and economic. Donaldson and Graham's (1999) Model of College Outcomes particularly examines differences between adult and traditionally-aged students. This model is based on five components that affect older students specifically: prior experiences, psychosocial and value orientation, cognition, the connecting classroom, and life-world environment. The connecting classroom is the key component to this model. For younger, traditionallyaged students social involvement has more influence on learning outcomes; for adult students, there is a need for social connections. Adults need to feel connected with faculty and their peer students, and create connections through the context of knowledge (Donaldson & Graham, 1999).

Bean's (1980) work on student attrition is based on four categories (dropout; satisfaction and institutional commitment; organizational determinants – i.e. routinization, practical value, institutional quality, etc.; and background variables – i.e. students' pre-matriculation characteristics such as parent's education, socioeconomic status, etc.) that have some influence on students' interaction in college and university. The study found that men and women leave university for different reasons, however institutional commitment was the key factor as men left even when they were satisfied and women were less likely to leave when they exhibited a strong institutional commitment. Moreover, opportunity to transfer to a different college or university also had an effect on student attrition.

Pascarella (1980) examined contact with faculty and dropout rate. His model combines students' background characteristics with institutional factors, educational outcomes, informal contact with faculty, and *other college experiences* as factors that lead to persistence or the decision to withdraw from an institution. He found that there are direct correlations to the amount of informal, out-of-the-classroom interaction with faculty and satisfaction with college, intellectual development, academic achievement, and progression from the freshman year to the sophomore year in college.

Tinto (1993, 1998) presented stages of institutional departure: the *Rites of Passage* and the *Stages of the College Career*. He based his theory on Arnold Van Gennep, a Dutch anthropologist who studied the rites of memberships in tribal societies. Central to student departure and retention is the movement of individuals from one group to another. These rites of passage are separation, transition, and incorporation. Each of these stages has the key element of patterns of interactions between individuals and the societies to which they belong. The separation stage is characterized by a discernible decrease in communication from the individual to society-at-large. Transition occurs when the individual begins to interact within another, new society. This stage is key to individuals understanding their role and being trained (or self-training) to become members of the group. The final stage, incorporation, involves becoming a participant member in the new group or society. These rites of passage and their associated stages can also be cyclical with individuals moving from one group to another and beginning the progression through the individual stages again (Van Gennep, 1960). Tinto (1988)
argues that college students are members of one community (the college or university) but are also members of various subsets within the larger community. Thus, college students must go through different rites of passage for each new community they find themselves engaging with while possibly separating themselves from other communities that they belong to. In the *Stages of the College Career*, students transitioning to college and university must begin the first phase, Separation, by beginning to disassociate with past communities (e.g. high school, hometown, etc.). This period of transition is one of excitement, fun, stress, and disorientation. This overwhelming amount of differing emotions is hard on students making such a vast transition, especially traditional students (age 18-22). For more mature students, this is also a bewildering time. Tinto (1988) argues that those staying at home while attending college do not necessarily have to make the same disaffiliations as traditionally-aged students; however they are not able to take full advantage of the new communities to which they belong because the immersion levels are different. The second stage is the Transition to College. In this stage, students are beginning to become familiar with the "norms and patterns of behavior appropriate to integration in the new communities of college" (Tinto, 1988). However, at this point, students face the difficulties of adjusting to their new environments and this has major implications on their willingness to remain in college through graduation; their sense of bewilderment and frustration can become insurmountable, or they are not fully committed to completing their education and end up dropping out. The final stage, Incorporation in College, is when individuals become engaged in the university/college community and the various sub-communities and must adhere to the norms, rituals, and traditions of each. For the most part, however, students are left on their own to find their

way and learn and acquire the norms of each society and community; and if they cannot find ways to incorporate the chance of leaving the college/university increases (Tinto, 1988). Tinto's theory evolved in 1993 where he identified academic difficulties, inability of students to resolve educational goals, and the failure to become or remain incorporated into the groups and communities of the institution.



Figure 2.1 Tinto's (1975, 1987, 1993) Student Integration Model

Tinto's (1975, 1987, 1993) Student Integration Model also examines student persistence with regard to students' individual entry characteristics, which include race, sex, socioeconomic status, academic ability, high school grade point average, academic and social attainments, value climates, and expectational climates and how these factors have a direct correlation to a student's commitment to the completion of an academic degree and persistence in college. Retention, in Tinto's view, is based on students' goal commitment and institutional commitment and there are many drivers which lead to attainment of these goals. As a student integrates further and further into the institution's communities, there is a positive influence on that student's retention and an enhancement of the commitment to complete the educational endeavor (Tinto, 1993). Mature students, in general, tend to be more committed to their academic programs (Pollard, Bates, Hunt, & Bellis, 2008); however they also face similar and dissimilar issues with their integration into college and university and may have other reasons to leave such as financial or family concerns (Yorke & Longden, 2007, 2008).

Martinez (1995) indicates that most data collectors tend to ask the wrong questions when looking at information on retention of students. The first error is that institutions only ask for one reason why a student left, when there can be, and usually are myriad reasons for student departure. Demographic indicators are not the only factors leading to student departure, and are often misconstrued as the sole determining factor, and while other reasons should be examined, including financial situations, work and family demands, and individual and cultural attitudes regarding persistence and completion (Martinez, 1995). Larger research studies have tended to rely heavily on qualitative judgments; draw from the wrong populations; or from volunteers; lack control groups; do not distinguish between large and small impact retention efforts; and suffer from generalizations and do not properly identify cause and effect relationships (Cousins, 2002; Martinez, 1996, 2000, 2001). Martinez (2001) argues that demographic factors, student decision making, student motivation, college-related issues, and advice and guidance also play major roles in retention of students.

Chen and Thomas' (2001) work on student persistence in Taiwan proposed two models: the Primary Persistence Model (based on academic integration, social integration, parental education, gender, entrance examination, gym grade, major departments, housing, occupational guidance programs, and academic remedial programs) and the Secondary Persistence Model (based on significant and non-significant predictors of persistence). Interestingly, students who did not like gym or other extracurricular activities tended to not be retained. They compare this Taiwanese gym grade to social integration in the US.

Pascarella, Pierson, Wolniak, and Terenzini (2004) examined first generation college students and found that they are less involved in extracurricular activities, athletics, and volunteer work than legacy generations. This is because first generation students are less likely to live on campus and are more likely to have greater work responsibilities. However, when they did get involved, they tended to benefit to a greater degree than their legacy peers in academic skill areas and focus on degree plans.

As the world becomes flatter, cultural diversity can wreak havoc with retention. Differing cultural norms can have a great impact on whether or not a student will be able to fit into a college or university's varied groups and societies. Differences in time, space, and communication (rhetoric and nonverbal), educational levels, and a basic sense of belonging all play into whether or not a student from a different culture can find his or her place in a new society (Davidhizar & Shearer, 2005).

Pleskac, Keeney, Merritt, Schmitt, and Oswald (2011) developed a detection model of college withdrawal. This framework is based on decision-making processes students undergo when withdrawing from institutions. In other words, they found that there are precipitating events (tuition increases, bad academic results, etc) that drive students' decision to withdraw; students have internal criteria, and if these events meet those criteria, they withdraw.

### **Tinto's (1993) Effective Retention Strategies**

Tinto (1993) defines *Dimensions of Institutional Action* that include tools and ideas that colleges and universities can use to effectively retain students. The first idea is to define exactly what *dropout* means. Institutions must have clear goals and commitments toward retention and these must be reflected in the mission. Moreover, if a student does not see their departure as a degree of failure, neither should the institution.

Principles of effective retention include institutional commitment to students, educational commitment, and social and intellectual community development. The first principle states that institutions should put student welfare above and beyond institutional goals and that educational programming should remain committed to students' diverse needs and interests. Educational commitment means that these retention programs are holistically viewed as a commitment to education for everyone, not just a select few students. Finally, these retention programs ensure that students are integrated into society as citizen scholars by creating supportive and social educational communities in which students can join, grow, and belong (Tinto, 1993).

In order to effectively implement these strategies, institutions should provide enough resources for faculty and staff so that programs for retention can be implemented and employees are incentivized to participate as well as properly trained; moreover, institutions should have a strong commitment to long-term retention program development and ownership of these programs should belong to those implementing the programs. An institution-wide approach must be coordinated in a collegial and collaborative manner, and efforts should focus on student retention. Finally, retention programs should be engaged in a continuous improvement process to ensure that every effort is made to retain students (Tinto, 1975).

#### **Adult Students**

Historically, research on students in higher education has mostly centered on the traditional-age student, 18-22 years old. However, more recently, research on the more nontraditional-age student, usually over age 25, has emerged. Between 1970 and 1990, adult learners in the United States, aged 25 or over, increased from 28% to 43% of students in college (U.S. Department of Education, 2002). In 2010, it was estimated that adult learners represented 38% of tertiary learners (Jacobs & Hundley, 2010), but it is still too early to tell if those estimates will be met. Non-traditional students, generally, have not been considered in retention efforts and they tend to get less support than do traditionally-aged students (Fincher, 2010).

Boshier (1973) examined participation and dropout of adult students. He used Maslow's (1967) Theory of Metamotivation to define *deficiency motivated people*, who use work and education "more for achieving gratification or lower basic needs, of neurotic needs, as a means to an end ... or as a response to cultural expectations" (as cited in Boshier, 1973, p.256) and *growth motivated people*, who have "satisfied lower-order needs in Maslow's hierarchy" (p. 256). He found that adult students who do not participate and/or dropout tend to do so because of not having enough organized educational experiences and that educators, in particular, must pay close attention to formal and informal environmental aspects as regards this population.

Clarke (1980) found that adult students were more amenable to remedial courses than were traditionally-aged students, and they were more receptive to feedback regarding preparedness for college. Horan (1990a) examined Vietnam veterans as mature students and found that although some experienced issues with alcohol and drugs, overall they were fairly typical mature students whose worries included how to pay for college and provide for their families. Richardson (1994) and Richardson and King (1998) argue that adult learners also have the added barrier of needing to relearn how to study effectively and have to deal with pejorative stereotypes such as age related changes to intellectual capacity. Yorke (1999) found that mature students who left university prematurely in the United Kingdom were more likely to have family responsibilities and/or financial problems that influenced their withdrawal. McAleavy, Collins, and Adamson (2004) identified three categories of barriers that affect retention of adult students: situational (family structure, finances, culture), institutional (cost of education, availability of programs, entrance requirements), and dispositional (attitudes and values of a person towards learning).

Comparisons have also been made between younger and adult college students (Johnson, Wallace, & Sedlacek, 1979; Mangano & Corrado, 1980; Warchal & Southern, 1986). These comparisons indicate that college administrators and faculty should be aware of the difficulties encountered by adult students entering a traditionally-aged atmosphere and create programs for transition of adult students to university and college campuses.

Pollard et al. (2008) performed a telephone survey of mature students in England and found that many respondents felt that university was an option, even at an older age. Mature students either do not see further education as a possibility in the future, it is something they are actively considering, or it is something they are considering in the near future. Many adult students, however, are unsure about how to start the process of enrolling, or how much university will actually cost them, but feel that it is important to be further educated to be more employable. They also found that adults prefer to go to school part time, in the evening, at a campus near home. Finally, employer support is important for mature adults, not only financially, but if it created more opportunities for advancement at work (Pollard et al., 2008).

Fincher (2010) examined adult student retention. He argues that there are four methods to increase retention: 1) raising entrance standards, 2) decreasing academic rigor, 3) decreased pace (e.g. allowing students to learn over longer periods), and 4) learning enhancement. He puts forth 12 recommendations to help increase retention for

27

mature students with regard to learning enhancement. Six are under the academic umbrella and six are under the administrative one. Accelerated learning programs can help adult students by saving time and streamlining processes. Providing *tutoring* services can also enhance learning; not only do students get individualized attention, but they can improve academic deficiencies. This can be further strengthened through web*based learning support*, which can use methods such as software programs to create opportunities for students to have interactive learning experiences. *Placement testing and remediation* allow for students to be placed in courses in which they are more prepared to succeed. Curriculum redundancy occurs when the same concept is repeated over different courses, or for emphasis on importance (Johnstone & Maloney, 1998). Applied research creates avenues for students to learn and become engaged with their institutions (Lopatto, 2006) and allows student to apply their knowledge to real-life circumstances (Hur & Kim, 2007), while rapidly learning (Fincher, 2010). Creating avenues for adult students to have *international exposure* can "enhance the student experience and therefore increase commitment to completion" (Fincher, 2010, p.16). Fincher argues that higher education administrators should make changes to increase student retention by decreasing barriers to education. Alignment of loan dispersal and course scheduling plays a large role in the ability of adult students to attend classes and to help lessen the financial burden, in the short term, for adult students. Eliminating *confusing terminology* can also reduce misunderstandings for adult learners. Having increased communication of expectations for students available in different modes (e.g. on call counselors, online help desks, being open after hours, etc.). Finally, having current technology can help

adult students, as, like their counterparts, they are dependent on technology to function in the modern classroom (Fincher, 2010).

Tinto's (1993) model is problematic with regard to adult students as this population, generally, comes to higher education for differing reasons than those of their traditionally aged counterparts. Older students are more committed to their program of study because they have not only considered the choice to enter higher education but are generally pursuing an education frame that will advance them in their careers (Yorke, 2004). Mature students also have outside factors and commitments that can make their higher education journey more solitary – they are not as involved in campus social and academic activities. This does not allow adult students to have a sense of belonging that will help increase retention, persistence and progression in higher education (Yorke, 2004).

## Military (and Military-affiliated) Students

Having a military force that is better educated is valuable to the government for many reasons: increases in productivity, retention in the service, and increased morale (Thirtle, 2001). Radford (2009) indicates that, in general, servicemembers attending colleges and universities tend to be younger than veterans, but older than traditional undergraduate students as they serve in the military prior to attending college. Most military students also were minorities in 2007-08 and women represented 27% of all military undergraduates in the same year, but only represented 7% of veteran students (Radford, 2009). Location is extremely important to students using G.I. Bill benefits and most indicated that cost and program availability was a deciding factor in attendance. Almost half of all servicemembers at public four-year colleges receive G.I. Bill benefits. 47% are pursuing associate degrees and 42% bachelor's degrees (Radford, 2009).

**Minority Veterans.** Limited research has examined racial status of veterans in higher education. Compared to Caucasian veterans, African American and Hispanic veterans are younger, less likely to hold college degrees, and make less than \$30,000 per year (Washington, Vallentine Villa, Damron-Rodriguez, & Harada, 2005). A study by Kearney, Draper, and Barón (2005) found that although more Asian American, Latino, and African American students were found to have more need for counseling, Caucasian students attended more counseling sessions than their peers. African American veterans comprise 10.3% and Hispanic comprise 3.6%; these numbers are projected to increase to 15.4% and 8.7%, respectively by 2036 (Olsen & O'Leary, 2011). Kleykamp (2010) found that due to a reduction in the military in the 1990s, the number of African Americans in college increased.

**Women Veterans.** The roles of women in the military have changed since women began military service in the All-Volunteer Force in 1973. As recently as 2012, varying degrees of military jobs are available to women: Air Force (99%), Navy (88%), Marines (68%), and Army (66%) (Parrish, 2012). In 2010, women comprised 8.1% of veterans and that number is projected to rise to 15.1% by 2036 (Olsen & O'Leary, 2011).



Figure 2.2 A Timeline of Veterans Benefits

**The Morrill Act of 1862.** The Morrill Act of 1862 (7 U.S.C. § 391), also known as the Land Grant College Act, was enacted to create educational institutions in each state that was primarily focused on

where the leading object shall be, without excluding other scientific and classical studies and including military tactic, to teach such branches of learning as are related to agriculture and the mechanic arts, in such manner as the legislatures of the States may respectively prescribe, in order to promote the liberal and practical education of the industrial classes in the several pursuits and professions in life. (Morrill Land-Grant Act, 1862, n.p.)

This Act further established military training programs at land-grant institutions and after the United States' entrance into World War I, the 1916 National Defense Act was brought into law, creating the Reserve Officers' Training Corps (ROTC), as well as the active duty forces, the reserves, and the National Guard (Rumann & Hamrick, 2009). The Morrill Act was one of many precursors to the G.I. Bill and put a military presence, in different forms, on America's colleges and universities.

Veterans Benefits from the American Revolution through 1943. As early as the American Revolution (1775-1783), veterans have asked for benefit packages. In 1778, veterans demanded pensions consisting of half of their salary. Originally, President George Washington denied their request, concerned with cost and repercussions from the citizenry, but he acquiesced after a rash of officer resignations. In 1780, Congress agreed to grant half-pay pensions to those officers who remained in the Army for the duration of the War (Juul, 2009).

In 1817, President James Monroe, facing a large budget surplus, granted pensions to indigent veterans of the Revolution and the more recent War of 1812. This allotted twenty dollars per month to officers and eight dollars per month to enlisted soldiers. However, in 1820, Congress required that veterans provide proof of poverty to receive the pension. This was met with massive resistance and in 1823, the legislation was amended to remove the poverty clause (Juul, 2009).

As the Civil War was beginning to escalate, the Union Army, concerned with a lack of volunteers, provided an incentive: they would pay soldiers who had been wounded in the line of duty. Officers would receive up to thirty dollars per month and enlisted soldiers beginning at eight dollars per month. This was also the first time that widows and dependents would be entitled to pensions should their soldier be killed in battle (Juul, 2009). On top of the pensions, soldiers injured during battle would also be entitled to one-time payments "\$50 for a missing arm or \$75 for a missing leg" (Juul, 2009, p. 18).

The Arrears of Pension Act of 1879 was enacted with the aim of providing that all pensions should begin from the "date of death or discharge" (Glasson, 1900, p. 95). Prior to this legislation, pensions commenced only after application for benefits (Holcombe, 1999). This allowed beneficiaries to receive the arrears that had accrued from discharge/death through application of benefits. A later proviso, the Increase Act of 1886, granted pensions to the soldiers and widows of the Mexican War of 1846 (Glasson, 1900).

Further legislation granting more benefits to veterans ensued in the years following Reconstruction. The Dependent Pension Act of 1890 was enacted to make more veterans eligible for benefits (Skocpol, 1993). The Vocational Rehabilitation Act of 1918 provided funds to rehabilitate disabled veterans (Elliott & Leung, 2004) leading to the creation of the Veterans Bureau in 1921 (which would change to the Veterans Administration in 1930). This office was established to administer veterans benefit programs. The Selective Training and Service Act of 1940 required former employers to rehire veterans who had been conscripted to duty after they returned.

In 1932, due to the worsening of the American Depression, veterans were given service certificates instead of money from the Veterans' Bureau. This created outrage and caused the creation of the Bonus Expeditionary Forces: a group estimated between 15,000 and 40,000 strong. These veterans laid siege on the Capital, and, although the results were not immediate, there were two major results: a) the government recognized the power of the veterans as a group and b) by 1937 these veterans were paid in settlement of their certificates, which was considered a huge victory (Veterans Administration, 2007).

#### The G.I. Bill (1944-1984)

As benefits and pensions had become commonplace for veterans and their dependents, more and more demand was placed on the Veterans' Bureau by veterans to be provided with increased access to education and housing. While many think the G.I. Bill's advent was altruistic, a depressed economy following World War II led President Franklin Delano Roosevelt to call for ways to reignite the economy and to prevent economic catastrophe as several millions of veterans returned to their civilian jobs (Haydock, 1996; Juul, 2009; Mettler, 2005a).

Roosevelt commissioned a report from the National Resources Planning Board the Postwar Manpower Conference (PMC). This group's 1943 report strongly emphasized the fact that one of the government's main efforts should be to find ways to help returning soldiers reintegrate into society. Moreover, they suggested that all veterans should be eligible for one year of free training, but only for job markets in need of labor. A second committee, the Armed Forces Committee on Postwar Educational Opportunities for Service Personnel suggested that all veterans who served for a minimum of six months should be entitled to one year of free education; however those demonstrating exceptional academic ability could be provided with additional educational aid (Mettler, 2005b).

Concurrent to this process, the American Legion was working on its own separate efforts to persuade the government to provide increased benefits to veterans. Led by John Stelle, the former governor of Illinois, the Legion proposed what they called "a bill of rights for G.I. Joe and G.I. Jane", later to become the "G.I. Bill of Rights". This proposed education up to four years, depending on length of service (Mettler, 2005b). After some debate in both houses, the Serviceman's Readjustment Act of 1944 (P.L. 78-346, 58 Stat. 284m), now popularly known as the G.I. Bill, was signed into law. In a speech on June 22, 1944 announcing the passage of the bill, Roosevelt stated, "the members of the armed forces have been compelled to make greater economic sacrifice and every other kind of sacrifice than the rest of us, and they are entitled to definite action to help take care of their special problems" (Roosevelt, 1943, n.p.).

The Serviceman's Readjustment Act of 1944. Patterson (1996) states that the G.I. Bill is the "most significant development in the modern history of American education" (p. 69). The initial bill provided for veterans "to collect \$20 a week in unemployment compensation for up to a year, home and farm loans up to \$2,000, and up to four years of education at \$500 a year plus monthly subsistence payments of up to \$120" (Juul, 2009, p. 29). In 1945, an amendment to the bill provided veterans more time to enroll in college increasing the time from two to four years after discharge and increased the level of subsistence allowances (Mettler, 2005b).

By the mid-1950s, almost eight million veterans had taken advantage of G.I. Bill benefits – 2.2 million went to colleges and universities, and the rest attended trade or vocational schools (Juul, 2009; Mettler, 2005b; Olson, 1973). The G.I. Bill entitled returning veterans to money for tuition and books, as well as a monthly stipend to support them while enrolled in college, and low-interest loans for home purchases. "Veterans were older, better motivated, and included among their total 10 per cent who would not have gone to college without the G.I. Bill and another 10 per cent who 'probably' would not have done so" (Olson, 1973, p. 605).

The influx of students on college and university campuses was met with "uncritical acceptance" (Olson, 1973, p. 608). Higher education responded by creating larger classes, erecting Quonset huts for extra teaching space, the administration enlisted wives of faculty as well as graduate students to teach extra classes (Haydock, 1996). For the first time in U.S. history, 60 universities passed the 10,000 student enrollment mark (Olson, 1973).

The Korean G.I. Bill (1952). A main differentiating factor in the difference between World War II and Korean War soldiers is that many attempting to avoid conscription into the Korean conflict chose to take an educational deferment, which would allow those who could afford college to attend (in an attempt to avoid the fighting) while those who could not joined the military (voluntarily or not) and then received G.I. Bill benefits (Bound & Turner, 2002). Public Law 550, also known as the Korean G.I. Bill of Rights was enacted in 1952, and its major contribution to higher education was that it would only allow "a limited number of new colleges of unquestioned academic standing, some of which are conducted or sponsored by religious orders or denominations, to qualify for participation in this new program" (P.L. 78-346, 48 State. 284m §227). This legislation was not as generous as the original 1944 G.I. Bill – instead of having full tuition and a stipend, Korean veterans received a stipend of \$110/month for a single veteran from which tuition had to be paid (Bennett, 1996; Smole & Loane, 2008), regardless of the cost of tuition. Additionally, educational assistance programs were made available to widows of veterans and wives of veterans who were classified as totally disabled (Mosch, 1971).

The Veterans' Readjustment Benefits Act (1966). The Veterans' Readjustment Benefits Act (P.L. 89-358), also known as the Post-Korea and Vietnam-Era G.I. Bill was enacted in 1966. This legislation was the first to provide benefits to members of the armed services while still on active duty. Veterans who had more than 180 consecutive days of active duty service were provided one month of educational assistance for each month of service. Single veterans received \$100/month, initially, but by 1984, they were receiving \$376/month (Smole & Loane, 2008). With the passage of this legislation, more eligible veterans (76%) enrolled in college and university and by 1980, 5.5 million veterans had used their benefits (Veterans Administration, 2007).

**Post-Vietnam Veterans' Educational Assistance Program of 1976.** Vietnam-era veterans are more numerous than veterans of any other era and are also the last group of servicemembers who were subject to the Draft (Teachman, 2005). The Post-Vietnam Era Veteran's Educational Assistance Program (VEAP) was established under Title IV of the Veteran's Education and Employment Assistance Act of 1976 (P.L. 94-502) and is also known as "Chapter 32". This legislation was used as a recruitment tool for the Armed Services during peacetime and is the first time that participants in the program were

required to contribute to the program by paying between \$25-\$100/month, up to a \$2,700 cap. VEAP benefits also had to be used within ten years of discharge (Smole & Loane, 2008). The federal government would match each dollar contributed toward VEAP with two dollars (Veterans Administration, 2007). Later, members who had participated in VEAP were allowed to transfer their benefits with the inception of the Montgomery G.I. Bill (Mercer & Skinner, 2008), which is explained below.

The Montgomery G.I. Bill (1984). The Montgomery G.I. Bill was named after Representative "Sonny" Montgomery of Mississippi (Juul, 2009) and is comprised of two programs: MGIB-Active Duty (MGIB-AD), or "Chapter 30", and MGIB-Selected Reserves (MGIB-SR), or "Chapter 1606". The MGIB-AD was enacted from the Department of Defense Authorization Act, 1985 (P.L. 98-525). Individuals had to pay into the MGIB-AD with \$100/month for 12 months in order to receive benefits, and these benefits had to be used within three years and within ten years from the date of discharge. These benefits are paid on a monthly basis and can be used for tuition, fees, books, supplies, and other educationally-related expenses. Moreover, there is also a "Kicker"/College Fund – this allows students to receive additional monetary benefits and students must also pay into this fund. Students may also use the Tuition Assistance "Top-Up" program, which was established in 2001 under the Floyd D. Spencer National Defense Authorization Act (P.L. 106-398). This allows students who are approved through the Tuition Assistance Program to receive benefits above and beyond their G.I. Bill benefits if students' benefits are less than the college or university's tuition and fees. To qualify for the MGIB-SR, individuals in the Selected Reserves must agree to a sixyear service obligation. Up to 3 years of benefits that must be used within 14 years of established eligibility are available to these individuals (Smole & Loane, 2008).

**Overview of Benefits (1944-1984).** To date, the original G.I. Bill legislation of 1944 is still the most generous benefits package to date (Radford, 2009). As benefits have decreased, requirements to re-enlist or to pay money toward education benefits have become more and more prevalent. An overview of benefits for veterans is provided below. It shows the evolution of the G.I. Bill from its inception in 1944 through the MGIB.

# **VETERANS BENEFITS**

# Table 2.1

Selected Characteristics of Veterans' Education Benefit Programs (Period of Service and Use)

Criteria	G.I. Bill of Rights	Korean G.I. Bill	Vietnam-Era G.I. Bill	Post-Vietnam Era Veterans' Educational Assistance Program (VEAP)	Montgomery G.I. Bill – Active Duty	Montgomery G.I. Bill – Selected Reserves	Post-9/11 G.I. Bill
Year enacted	1944	1952	1966	1976	1984	1984	2008
Initial authorization	P.L. 78-346	P.L 82-550	P.L. 89-358	P.L. 94-502	P.L. 98-525	P.L. 108-375	P.L. 110-252
Period of service	9/16/40 - 7/25/47	6/27/50 - 1/31/55	2/1/55 - 8/4/64 (Post- Korean War veterans) 8/5/64 - 5/7/75 (Vietnam-era veterans)	12/31/76 - 7/1/85	Entered active duty after 6/30/85	7/1/85 - present	8/1/09 - present
Period of use	6/22/44 - 7/25/56	8/20/52 - 1/31/65	6/1/66 - 12/31/89	1/1/77 - present	7/1/85 - present	7/1/85 - present	8/1/09 - present

Note. Adapted from Smole and Loane (2008) and Benefit Comparison Chart (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011a).

# **VETERANS BENEFITS**

Selected Characteristics of Veterans' Education Benefit Programs (Highest Benefit and Contribution).

Criteria	G.I. Bill of Rights	Korean G.I. Bill	Vietnam- Era G.I. Bill	Post- Vietnam Era Veterans' Education	Montgom ery G.I. Bill – Active Duty	Montgom ery G.I. Bill – Selected Reserves	Post-9/11 G.I. Bill
Highest standard benefit	\$1,069 month and	\$921/month maximum	\$685/month	\$1,098/month	\$618.53/month	\$288.93/mon th	~\$408/credit for tuition
(2010 dollars)	\$630/month subsistence	onth nce					~10,502/ter m in fees
							~1,333/mont h housing allowance
							1,000 year for books & supplies
Contribution	None	None	None	\$25-\$100 per month; \$2,700 maximum	Pay reduction of \$100/month for 1st 12 months	None	None

*Note.* Adapted from Benefit Comparison Chart (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011), NewGIBill.org (2011), and Smole and Loane (2008). "~" indicates national averages for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill averages nationwide as rates are determined per highest undergraduate tuition at a public university in each state.

# Table 2.3

Selected Characteristics of Veterans' Education Benefit Programs (Service Length, Time Limitations).

Criteria	G.I. Bill of Rights	Korean G.I. Bill	Vietnam-Era G.I. Bill	Post-Vietnam Era Veterans' Educational Assistance Program (VEAP)	Montgomery G.I. Bill – Active Duty	Montgomery G.I. Bill – Selected Reserves	Post-9/11 G.I. Bill
Length of service	Minimum 90 days	Minimum 90 days	More than 180 days active duty service	Minimum of 181 continuous days of active duty services, if entered before 10/16/81; 24 months of continuous active duty service if entered after 10/16/81	Minimum 181 continuous days of active duty service; 24 months of active duty if enlisted after 9/7/80	Accepted 6-year reserve obligation after 6/30/85	Minimum 90 days 3 years for 100%-level benefit
Time limitation on use of benefits	Initiated by later of end of war or two years after discharge	Initiated by three years and completed by eight years after discharge	Within 8 years of discharge ; 10 years for Vietnam veterans	Within 10 years of discharge or release from active duty	Within 10 years of discharge or release from active duty	Within 14 years of initial eligibility, if eligible on or after 10/1/92 (for those eligible prior benefits to be used w/in 10 years of initial eligibility)	Within 15 years from last discharge or separation

Note. Adapted from Smole and Loane (2008) and Benefit Comparison Chart (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011a).

In 1999, Congress introduced four bills to enhance the program: S-1059, S-1076, HR-1071, and HR-1182. S-1059 and S-1056 were both intended to raise the maximum monthly benefit; additionally S-1059 allowed for members to transfer their benefits to their spouses and dependents. HR-1071 proposed covering full tuition and books to servicemembers who had served for four years or more and increase the monthly stipend. HR-1182 would provide an increased stipend, as well as covering up to 90% of tuition, in return for four years of service. The report also indicates that 90% of students who enter the military contribute to the MGIB; however both Senate and House bills would be more costly than the current MGIB program (Asch, Fair, & Kilburn, 2000). In 2000, the RAND Corporation issued an assessment on proposed improvements to the MGIB.

Over time, living expenses and college tuition have increased exponentially. In fact, the standard of living is significantly higher today than in 1960, and the distribution of income has become increasingly unequal; moreover, the cost of college has historically increased faster than the other indicators of inflation (Archibald & Feldman, 2011). Coupled with that is with the fact that the general public's opinion is that colleges are not doing their utmost to control costs (Immerwahr, Johnson, Ott, & Rochkind, 2010). The U.S. Government has put forth other measures that have been put in place to help servicemembers afford the extra expenses, such as Tuition Assistance and the Veterans Education Assistance Program; however the purchasing power of the MGIB has been severely and drastically lowered due to inflation and rising costs of education. The MGIB awarded \$1,101 per month; however this amount was increased to \$1,321 per month in 2008. This gives servicemembers and veterans an annual stipend of \$9,909 per nine month academic calendar (Lay, 2009; Smole & Loane, 2008; U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011a). The College Board's 2009 *Trends in College Pricing* report indicates that tuition, fees, and room and board in constant 2009 dollars averages at \$26,300 (The College Board, 2009). This amount, while variable depending on what type of institution the student chooses, does not provide students depending solely on MGIB benefits with enough support and may results in students struggling to stay afloat while pursuing their educational goals.

#### The Post-9/11 G.I. Bill

In order to address deficiencies in the MGIB, Senators Jim Webb (D-VA), Frank Lautenberg (D-NJ), Chuck Hagel (R-NE), and John Warner (R-VA) came together in a bipartisan effort to introduce the Post-9/11 Veterans Educational Assistance Act of 2008, P.L. 110-252, H.R. 2642, more commonly referred to as the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, or "Chapter 33". In short, this bill provides more flexibility in education benefits, supplies students with different payment incentives (such as book stipends), and allows for dependents (children and spouses) to also benefit from servicemembers and veterans' sacrifices to their country. Most importantly it affords servicemembers and veterans the chance to continue their education without relying on additional student loans to survive (Rash et al., 2008). Although the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill is more generous than the MGIB, it is still not as generous as the original 1944 G.I. Bill (Radford, 2009).

Students who have served at least 90 total days on active duty after September 10, 2001 and are still on active duty or where honorably discharged from service are eligible for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Students, based on the length of their active duty service, are eligible for tuition and fees (not to exceed the most expensive in-state undergraduate tuition), a monthly housing allowance equal to military E-5 with dependents pay, a yearly

book stipend, and a one-time payment of \$500 for students who relocate to highly rural areas. Individuals with service of 90 days are entitled to 40% of the benefit and those who have served for 36 months or more are entitled to 100% of the benefit. Students can receive up to 36 months of benefits and benefits are available for 15 years from the last period of active duty (U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, 2011a).

### The Effect of Veterans Benefits and the G.I. Bill on Higher Education

Between 1944 and 1994, 1,700 new higher education institutions were founded (Adams, 2000). While not entirely correlated to the G.I. Bill, some of this growth can be attributed to the veteran and dependent populations that entered US colleges and universities. Since 1944, 21.3 million students have used G.I. Bill benefits totaling approximately \$72.8 billion dollars in education and training (Veterans Administration, 2007).

Because of the training and discipline through their military service, veterans have traditionally been seen as mature students who are better motivated to be successful in higher education (Frederiksen & Schrader, 1950; Love & Hutchinson, 1946; Preston & Botel, 1952). President James B. Conant, of Harvard University, who was initially opposed to the G.I. Bill, later stated that veterans were some of the best students that Harvard had ever seen (Olson, 1973). Articles and news media began to focus on "Joe College" versus "Joe Veteran" and the advertisers responded – a "sudden proliferation of college references and themes in a wide variety of products illustrates how the G.I. Bill phenomenon acted to change the image of higher education in American culture" (D. A. Clark, 1998, p. 180).

One of the greater effects was the call for regional accreditation associations for institutions of higher education. With the federal government spending more and more money on educating veterans and dependents, a call for accountability was issued (Thelin, 2004). This came from the Korean G.I. Bill: in 1952, the US Office of Education (USOE) created the National Commission on Accrediting. This evolved into the six regional accrediting associations that are in existence today (Proffitt, 1979).

Another impact that the G.I. Bill had on higher education was that married students became a norm at the graduate level. Moreover, graduate students were enlisted to teach undergraduate courses to help cope with the influx of students. Due to the needs of the nation, especially in reaction to the Cold War, veterans tended to continue their education at the graduate level, along with other types of students (Olson, 1973).

The G.I. Bill allowed disadvantaged minorities the ability to have equal access to higher education. This was ahead of its time in 1944 and was one of the precursors to the Civil Rights movement, which, in turn, also had a tremendous impact on America's colleges and universities. Moreover, the Bill allowed minorities to achieve the American dream (Humes, 2006). It was the fact that they had served, not who they were, that provided access for minorities to not only education, but home ownership, creating benefits that were inclusive, rather than exclusive. Humes (2006) indicates that in the South, around 90% of black veterans who attended college persisted and earned their degrees; this, according to the author, is attributed to segregation and a lack of jobs and opportunities.

**Veterans as College Students.** Card (1983) found that retention of Vietnam veterans in higher education was not as high as their civilian counterparts. Burnett and Segoria (2009) indicated that military transition students, those moving from a career in the military to another field, tend to feel most comfortable with each other. They are used to relying on each other and working in teams, and tend to have more self-confidence and maturity than their traditionally college-aged peers (Livingston, Havice, Cawthon, & Fleming, 2011); higher education officials should be cognizant of this. Tinto (1998) indicates that colleges and universities should provide experiences and opportunities for servicemembers, veterans, and their dependents to come together. Providing mentoring programs with mentors who have been in similar situations as the students will enrich the student's experience on campus. Creating communities for students and having venues where students can become involved in, on, and around campus leads to retention and persistence, especially in the first year of college or university (Tinto, 1998).

Pryor, Hurtado, DeAngelo, Blake, and Tran (2009) indicate that the CIRP Freshman Survey included a question about veteran status, of which 595 students responded. For veterans, 11.5% reported high school grades of A or A+, for nonveterans, 23.1% reported that same grade scale. For C+ averages or lower, 19.8% of veterans reported grades at that level, whereas their nonveteran counterparts reported 4.6%. Veterans also rated themselves higher than nonveterans with regard to leadership ability and social self-concept, but lower in academic self-concept. Veterans also indicated that they would become involved in clubs or groups (34.6%) and discuss course content with other students outside of the classroom (37.1%), both of which were lower than nonveterans (45.9% and 46.1%, respectively) (Pryor et al., 2009). This research strongly conveys that veterans who were average in high school choose the military over college, which may have allowed them time to mature and develop different goals before attempting higher education.

Cook and Kim (2009) found that higher education is meeting the needs of military students in several areas, including acknowledging veterans and servicemembers in strategic plans, offering programs and services for veterans, recognition of military experience as transfer credit, assisting veterans with services, such as counseling and refunds for deployments, and helping veterans access their G.I. Bill benefits. However, they also found that higher education institutions were not adequately assisting veterans with their transition to college life. Administrators and faculty were not adequately trained to understand the transitional needs of veterans and administrative procedures were not streamlined to make the (re-)enrollment processes easy and accessible. Finally, they found that colleges and universities failed to provide enough opportunities for veterans to socialize with each other through student organizations (Cook & Kim, 2009), which can increase retention in college.

**Veterans' Academic Performance.** Love and Hutchinson (1946) found 219 students who were enrolled in college prior to enlisting increased their GPA from 2.15/4.00 to 2.81/4.00 after returning from war. They further found that veterans entering college for the first time performed better than their nonveteran counterparts, with 2.45/4.00 and 2.31/4.00 grade point averages, respectively. Frederiksen and Schrader (1950) examined 10,000 veteran and nonveteran students in 16 colleges, and found that veterans, as students, tended to be academically superior to nonveteran students. Preston and Botel (1952) examined 2,048 college students and their relationship between reading and

college achievement. They found that maturity was a factor in college achievement; veterans, as mature students, tended to have a greater sense of responsibility, were more serious, and eager to make up for lost time. Joanning (1975) found that Vietnam-era veterans also had a higher GPA than their nonveteran counterparts.

Generally, the research has shown that veterans are more successful academically than their nonveteran counterparts; however, little research has been conducted into veterans' academic success since the 1970s.

Academic Adjustment Issues for Veterans. Veterans tend do struggle to balance their student identity with their military one and have trouble moving from identity to the other (Bauman, 2009). Veterans also have difficulty readjusting to society and to academics after sustaining physical and mental injuries in war (Stringer, 2007). DiRamio, Ackerman, and Mitchell (2008) found that many veterans were not sufficiently academically prepared for college.

**Psychological Adjustment Difficulties for Veterans.** The physical and mental health of all college students remains a concern on college and university campuses especially following incidents such as the Virginia Tech massacre. Veterans with combat experience or other transitional-related issues are coming to campuses across America (Kay, 2010). Over 30,000 troops have been injured in the Iraqi conflict and are now entering America's institutions of higher education (Iraq Coalition Casulty Count, 2009).

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), Traumatic Brain Injuries (TBIs), and alcohol abuse have been linked to problems with anger and hostility (Elbogen et al., 2010). Santiago, Wilk, Milliken, Castro, Engel, and Hoge (2010) report that the U.S. military conducts health screenings for combat servicemembers three to six months after they return from deployment. These health screenings found that 27% of soldiers had alcohol misuse problems. Combat servicemembers and veterans are "at risk for longterm symptoms, including headache, tinnitus, irritability, diminished concentration, or poor memory" (Brauser, 2011, p. 1).

**College Completion Rates for Veterans.** The U.S. has a goal of increasing degree attainment for 25-34 year olds from 41.7% to 55% by 2025 (McPherson & Schulenberger, 2010). This goal, while visionary, is attainable, especially considering the number of military-affiliated G.I. Bill beneficiaries coming to America's colleges and universities.

Bound and Turner's (2002) study on veteran educational attainment found that veterans born after 1923 received six months more postsecondary education than nonveterans. Stanley (2000) found that the Korean G.I. Bill allowed veterans up to 33% more veterans to attain their degrees over their nonveteran counterparts. A study on compulsory military service in Germany examined two cohorts: those born prior to July 1, 1937, and those born after. Findings indicate that there was a 4% positive difference in degree attainment for those who had completed mandatory military service (Bauer, Bender, Paloyo, & Schmitd, 2010).

Unlike the surge of students from the original MGIB in the 1940s, the students coming to campuses are now faced with issues that previous beneficiaries did not.

Veterans who served in combat may experience social and cognitive dissonance as they transition and assimilate to the civilian college environment. Some veterans will return from combat with physical or psychological readjustment challenges and will require academic and disability accommodations to successfully reintegrate. (Cook & Kim, 2009, p. 1)

Veterans who have used educational benefits to subsidize their schooling have higher graduation rates (Bound & Turner, 2002; Stanley, 2000) and graduate faster than those who do not (Angrist, 1993).

**Veteran Student Support.** States and institutions play an important role in the execution of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. In-state tuition for veterans and servicemembers often has a key function in whether or not a student enrolls in an HEI. Students are often frustrated by the amount of red tape they encounter when trying to register and be admitted and are daunted by the difference between them and their civilian counterparts and face informational, financial, cultural, and injury- and/or trauma-related barriers that traditional students do not necessarily have to go through (McBain, 2008). Institutions should work on relationship building with their military-affiliated population and offer personal, academic, and transitional support services geared directly toward them (Bauman, 2009).

There have additionally been several third party support programs that are in place to assist in the transition from soldier to scholar: the American Council on Education's (ACE) Severely Injured Military Veterans: Fulfilling their Dreams Project, Boots to Books, Combat2College, Operation Education, Hometown Heroes Teach, Service members Opportunity Colleges, the Sonny Montgomery Center for America's Veterans, Supportive Education for the Returning Veteran, and Troops to College (McBain, 2008). Partnering with organizations such as these, or creating on campus programs that focus on the success of students with military backgrounds, as well as their dependents, will help strengthen and enrich this population during their matriculation, and perhaps beyond college.

Institutions have responded to some degree. The American Council on Education's *From Soldier to Student: Easing the Transition of Service Members on Campus* (Cook & Kim, 2009) and *From Soldier to Student II: Assessing Campus Programs for Veterans and Service Members* (McBain et al., 2012) examined institutions' responses to the influx of veterans and their needs. The first report measured campuses' ability to serve veteran students from the initial passage of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill and the second measured changes in campus services after revisions to the Bill. The 2012 report found that there was an increase of 5% in services and programs (from 57% to 62%) designed for the military and veteran population. It also found that 71% of the responding institutions had military and veteran programs in their strategic plans. There has also been growth in dedicated offices for military and veteran students on HEI campuses (49% in 2009 to 71% in 2012) (McBain et al., 2012). However, there is still room to grow. If there are 62% of institutions reporting some level of assistance for veterans, there are still 38% of institutions that are not.

### **Veteran Retention**

Retention of students is directly correlated to involvement. Astin's (1999) involvement theory is defined as both the "quantity and quality of the physical and psychological energy that students invest in the college experience" (p. 528). This becomes more difficult as an adult or non-traditional student, who has lived a different

life than those who went straight to college from high school. Military veterans and servicemembers have had very different experiences than their nonveteran counterparts, particularly those who have experienced war situations. Special attention should be paid to this population. One way would be to offer a student organization, such as a military student club, where students can come together to share their experiences, give to each other, and give back to the communities in which they go to school, work, and live. Students who are involved generally have better experiences in college and there is no reason that former or current military students cannot have the same experiences. However, a 2013 study found that veterans study harder, but are not as active in campus life as their traditional-age counterparts (Kim & Cole, 2013). Military transition students tend to feel most comfortable with each other (Burnett & Segoria, 2009). They are used to relying on each other and working in teams; higher education officials should be cognizant of this and provide experiences and opportunities for servicemembers, veterans, and their dependents to come together. Moreover, providing mentoring programs, with mentors who have been in similar situations as the students will enrich the student's experience on campus. Student-veteran groups allow veterans to come together (Bauman, 2009) and having a dedicated space for veterans is important to them (S. Hadley & Trechter, 2010).

Veterans and servicemembers who have been in war situations, are coming to campus with myriad needs that campus infrastructure and staffing may not be ready to accommodate. University and college officials should be prepared to increase staffing in critical areas such as counseling and disability services to be able to provide accommodation of the needs of this influx of new students. Often, these students work with a Veterans Services Officer (VSO) as well as the university or college's disability services office. Church (2009) notes that some student veterans do not wish to disclose disabilities because they do not want to be labeled or stigmatized. College and university administrators need to reassure students with disabilities that their needs can be addressed with high levels of confidentiality from staff who are trained to specifically attend to their needs.

DiRamio, Ackerman, and Mitchell (2008) performed a study in which 25 students who had served in the Iraqi and Afghan conflicts were interviewed about their experience transitioning from soldier to scholar. This approach centered on the student-veteran being identified as such so that the efforts of campus administration could focus on providing a holistic approach to helping students in areas such as financial aid, counseling, disabilities, advising, institutional research, and student organizations. Providing orientations to the college or university is one method of identifying this population. Once identified, students can work with a transition coach, who is specially trained to address the diverse needs of servicemembers and veterans alike, who can help them cut through the multiple layers of red-tape that they often face which correlates to attrition (DiRamio et al., 2008).

## Students Using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill for Postsecondary Education

As the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill goes into its third year, reports are beginning to surface on its use and effect. Steele, Salcedo, and Coley (2010) published a report on student experiences using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill to pursue postsecondary education. Their findings are grouped into the use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, transferring credits for military experience, adjusting to campus life, and the changes institutions had to make to adjust to the requirements of this Bill.

In the use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill section, Steele et al. (2010) report that students like that benefits are paid directly to the institution – this allows students to pay their tuition and fees in a timely manner. Students also get monthly living allowances. Current servicemembers also appreciate the fact that there is no "pay in" for eligibility for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, unlike its pervious iterations where they had to pay \$100 per month during their first year of service toward their G.I. Bill ((Poché, 2004) . With regard to being able to use military experience for academic credit, participants reported that 47% were satisfied with the transfer of credits and that the average number of credits transferred was 18. Overall, a majority of respondents reported having trouble adjusting to life on campus. They found that academia is different from regimented military life and veterans reported difficulty balancing academic and other responsibilities. Fellow veterans are reported as being used as a source of support as this older group of students has difficulty identifying themselves with the traditionally-aged campus populations (Steele et al., 2010).

Institutions have also had to adjust because of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill (Steele et al., 2010). Institutions reported having increases of 35 and 100% in their G.I. Bill enrollments. The new law also has many minute details and an online certification process that campus officials needed to learn. Most importantly, administrators who deal with G.I. Bill benefits had to work closely with finance offices to ensure that students' benefits were applied in a timely manner to their accounts and to manage any payment difficulties. Moreover, administrators had to learn about the benefit options so that they
could explain them to students (Steele et al., 2010). The Veterans' Administration is piloted a program entitled *VetSuccess on Campus* where VA counselors are assigned to help veterans using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill transition and create more effective channels between students, the VA, and the HEIs (Veterans Today, 2010).

It has been shown that investment in students and HEIs has increased graduation rates and that colleges and universities that have higher levels of investments in student services have higher graduation rates: for each \$500 spent per student, the six year graduation rate increases by 0.7%; increasing the amount to \$100 per student also has an effect at HEIs with higher Pell Grants dollars per student (Webber & Ehrenberg, 2010). For every 10% increase in state appropriations, the graduation rate increases by 0.64% (Zhang, 2009). It is important not only to institutions, but to the federal government and its entities like the Veterans Administration and Department of Defense, that their federal dollars are contributing to increased retention, persistence and progression of students.

The Veterans Administration has also had to make adjustments due to the passage of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill legislation. From the original passage of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, the VA only had 13 months to implement the program; they lacked the proper information systems, staff, and guidance to properly implement the program (Scott, 2011). While the VA has made strides in claims processing moving the national average of processing claims from 48.8 days in 2009 to 25.7 days, it was still one day behind its target deadline date of 24 days in 2011 (Scott, 2011).

In December, 2010, Congress passed the Post-9/11 Veterans Education Assistance Improvements Act of 2010 (P.L. 111-377), known as the G.I. Bill 2.0, which

went into effect in August and October 2011. Some of the major changes include the offering of benefits to National Guard and Coast Guard Reserve members, as well as personnel at the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and employees of the Public Health Service. Tuition and fee payments have also been simplified. The Post-9/11 G.I. Bill now pays all in-state public school costs, even for graduate degrees and non-degree programs and caps private school tuition at \$17,500 with the Yellow Ribbon Program still applying to tuition and fees over the cap (Wilson, 2011). Colleges and universities will now have to report net costs for tuition and fees after deducting tuition and fee waivers, and scholarships and federal, state, institutional or employer-based aid received by the student (Wilson, 2011). Housing rates will be adjusted in August instead of January, which coincides with the beginning of the academic year, and housing will be prorated to training time; vocational rehabilitation participants and distance learners will also be eligible for housing assistance (Wilson, 2011). This legislation also clarifies the rules on interval pay: education benefits cannot be paid during academic year breaks (e.g. winter break) or when school is not in session (Wilson, 2011). Finally, the MGIB and MGIB-SR kickers, which were initially provided as a lump sum payment at the beginning of the term, will now be paid monthly (Wilson, 2011).

The U.S. Government Accountability Office released a report entitled *Veterans' Educational Benefits: Enhanced Guidance and Collaboration Could Improve Administration of the Post-9/11 GI Bill Program.* This report calls for two actions:

• Take steps to provide for schools to receive more critical program information such that as a student's eligibility for benefits or how payments have been calculated, for example, to enable certifying officials,

financial aid officials, and business office administrators to effectively administer the program and deliver benefits.

 Collaborate with the Department of Education and the higher education community, leveraging their experiences in administering aid. These collaborations should include assessing the applicability and viability of adopting processes and actions taken by the Department of Education, where practical, such as returning overpayments of program funds or reconciling benefit payments. (Scott, 2011, p. 4)

The Veterans Administration had the chance to respond to each recommendation. With regard to the first action, the VA concurs in principle. They will be creating a comprehensive and standardized handbook for school officials to address the issue of HEI administrators' ability to effectively administer the program. The VA also concurs in principle with the second action. The VA plans to create more dialogue with the Department of Education and higher education to ensure the applicability of all the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill requirements (Scott, 2011).

## Conclusion

The literature has shown that studies on the success of veterans in college are limited. This chapter provides an in-depth look across several interrelated categories: retention, persistence, and progression; the history of veterans benefits; issues that veterans and military-affiliated students bring to college campuses; as well as strategies and directions HEIs are taking to meet the varied needs of this diverse population.

# **CHAPTER 3 METHOD**

The purpose of this exploratory study, as stated in Chapter One, was to determine the significant predictors for first to second year student retention for beneficiaries of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill and progression at selected HEIs in the Hampton Roads area of Virginia. This study also compared the average retention rates of freshmen across the various institution types as well as the general population of students at each institution.

The study addresses the gap in literature that exists regarding the G.I. Bill, in all of its iterations, from its 1944 inception to present day and on the retention of students using the G.I. Bill. The G.I. Bill has had a tremendous impact on colleges and universities in the United States and changed education in many ways (Haydock, 1996; Holcombe, 1999; Juul, 2009; Mettler, 2005a, 2005b; Olson, 1973; Patterson, 1996; Smole & Loane, 2008; Thelin, 2004); however, few studies have examined veterans as college students (LaBarre, 1969; Rumann, 2009; Rumann & Hamrick, 2009).

Research on veterans is limited and generally not attributed to a specific iteration of the G.I. Bill, with the exception of the original legislation. Previous research has focused on veterans' academic performance after World War II (E. L. Clark, 1947; Love & Hutchinson, 1946), academic adjustment issues of veterans in college (Bauman, 2009; DiRamio et al., 2008; L. S. Hadley, 1945; Kinzer, 1946; Stringer, 2007; Zdechlik, 2005), psychological adjustment difficulties for Vietnam veterans (Hendin & Haas, 1991; Horan, 1990b), and veteran student support (Ackerman & DiRamio, 2009). With regard to persistence and progression, college completion rates for veterans have been examined for Vietnam veterans (Joanning, 1975; MacLean, 2005; Teachman, 2005). However, research exploring the factors driving academic success has been largely ignored.

Another purpose of this study was to uncover new knowledge to add to the literature that will help prepare higher education administrators in assisting increasing numbers of veterans returning to campuses across the United States.

Tinto's (1975, 1993) model has been extensively used throughout the literature and has also been tested in a variety of settings (Morris, 2002; Pascarella, Duby, & Iverson, 1983). Several of the predictors were examined for student retention at various institutions and are further discussed in the Covariate section of this chapter.

To achieve the above-stated purposes, the following research question was developed.

 What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in the Hampton Roads region?

This research question generated the following null hypothesis:

 $H_0$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in the Hampton Roads region.

This question prompts secondary questions for each of the postsecondary institutions being studied.

2. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a public university in the Hampton Roads region?

This research question generated the following null hypothesis:

 $H_01$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a public university in the Hampton Roads region.

3. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public college in the Hampton Roads region?

This research question generated the following null hypothesis:

 $H_02$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a for-profit college in the Hampton Roads region.

4. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a for-profit college in the Hampton Roads region?

This research question generated the following null hypothesis:

 $H_03$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public community college in the Hampton Roads region.

A final research question allows for a comparison of populations:

5. What are the demographic factors of retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries?

This research question generated the following null hypothesis:

 $H_04$  = There are no significant demographic factors of freshman retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries.

These questions were based on a stratified sample of the various institution types (public four year university, for-profit four year university, public two year community college); using examples of different types of higher education institutions allows for more thorough benchmarking for similar types of institutions around the country.

Hampton Roads, located in Southeastern Virginia, has a population of 1,401,281 is comprised of seven cities:

- Chesapeake (population 222,209)
- Hampton (population 137,436)
- Newport News (population 180,719)
- Norfolk (population 242,803)
- Portsmouth (population 95,535)
- Suffolk (population 84,585), and
- Virginia Beach (population 437,994) (United States Census Bureau, 2010).

Using Hampton Roads institutions is an effective starting point for research on the effect of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill as the area has a high military and military-affiliated population; there are over 100,000 active duty servicemembers, over 300,000 family members (Zielinski, 2008) and over 200,000 veterans (Firestone, 2008). In 2010, the VA released

information on the 25 colleges with the most veterans using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Tidewater Community College's Virginia Beach campus was ranked fourth with 879 veterans using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill; Old Dominion University was ranked eighth with 725, and ECPI College of Technology was ranked 18<sup>th</sup> with 536 (Stripling, 2010). More recently, all three institutions were recognized in as "Best for Vets" among colleges nationwide by the *Military Times* magazine. Old Dominion was ranked 14/100 in the Top 100 four-year colleges; Tidewater Community College was ranked 3/20 in the twoyear category, and ECPI was ranked 2/20 in online and non-traditional schools (Cahn, 2014).

#### **Research Design**

A quantitative *ex post facto* research design was selected for this study. *Ex post facto*, or after the fact, research "is a method of teasing out possible antecedents of events that have happened and cannot, therefore, be controlled, engineered or manipulated by the investigator" (Cooper & Schindler, 2001, p. 136). In other words, *ex post facto* design can be used when the researcher cannot assign participants randomly; the groups already exist (Breakwell et al., 2006; Schenker & Rumrill, 2004; Sukhia et al., 1966). *Ex post facto* research design differs from experimental research because *ex post facto* research does not control variables but generally allows for observation of pre-existing variables under normal conditions to determine a cause and effect (Lord, 1973). The experimental method, on the other hand, manipulates variables to determine the cause of the effect; this can create a potential for unethical or immoral use making *ex post facto* analysis more palatable, when involving persons as research subjects. However, it is important to note that there are considerations when using *ex post facto* data analysis. It is more flexible,

which can lead to showing causality and hypotheses can be based on personal preference of the researcher. This method also does not test the hypothesis and the hypothesis may not be the only one that has a causal relationship on the independent variables.

Even with the issues stated above, *ex post facto* research design is a good alternative with studies in sociology and education over experimental research because it provides additional flexibility when analyzing existing data in these disciplines, and it better fits the actual context in which these studies are often conducted (Lord, 1973; Kerlinger, 1964).

## **Rationale for Selection and Appropriateness to the Study**

Data were gathered from the various institutional research offices at each participating institution. Since the data already existed, *ex post facto* analysis is appropriate to the study.

## **Study Population**

The population for this study will be degree-seeking students registered for classes at the various institutions under study during Fall 2009 and Fall 2010. The sample was comprised of first year students studying at selected universities and colleges in the Hampton Roads area of Virginia. Students were coded as either using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit or not. Stratified sampling was used as various types of institutions were chosen for this study: a four year public institution, a two year public community college, and a four year for profit institution. It was the attempt of this research that these data will be generalizable to all institutions around the country.

Students from each of the various institutions were placed into cohort groups; i.e. all first year students from one institution will be examined for the Fall 2009 and Fall 2010 academic semesters (Fall 1, Fall 2).

#### **Rationale for Selection of Criteria**

Since this study examined the effect of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill on the retention of students it was important to look at students' retention who were (and who were not) using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Studies have also highlighted the fact that the first year in college is critical (Lu, 1994), can be a stressful transition (Tinto, 1987), and freshman class attrition rates can be as high as 20-30% (Mallinckrodt & Sedlacek, 1987). There is also a documented relationship between academic achievement in college and retention; students who perform better academically are retained more than students who struggle academically (Kirby & Sharpe, 2001; McGrath & Braunstein, 1997; Ryland, Riordan, & Brack, 1994).

# **Size of Population**

The size of the population was determined by the institutions under study and freshmen using Post-9/11 G.I. Bill dollars. Students were examined from a four-year public university, a public two-year community college, and a four-year for-profit institution.

**Dependent Variable.** The dependent variable that guided this study was retention. Retention has been defined in many ways over the past forty years, but in its most simple sense, it means that students are retained from year-to-year. In this study, a

student who successfully completed all the courses for which he or she registered was considered as being retained. Completion is defined as completing the course with a grade that is not failing or withdrawn over a semester. Each was independently examined to see whether differences exist with the covariates on G.I. Bill beneficiaries and non-G.I. Bill beneficiaries.

**Predictor Variables.** Predictor variables in this study allowed for comparison across categories. Three predictor variables were identified and every attempt was made to control for these in order to ensure threats to validity.

- Gender Gender may play a role with regard to retention. Internal validity could be compromised due to outside factors, (e.g. family duties, predisposition toward higher education attainment, etc.) that may affect one gender over the other.
  External validity could also be compromised. This variable was incorporated into SPSS and the regression model as a dichotomous predictor variable (i.e. 0 = male, 1 = female).
- 2. Age Age may play a role with regard to retention. Students were examined by age groups (under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, over 48).
- 3. Ethnicity Ethnicity may also play a role with retention. Students were examined by student-reported racial groups to see if there are any statistically significant racial groups that have retention issues within each cohort (African American, Asian, Hispanic, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, Caucasian).

#### **Data Collection Procedures**

Permission to conduct research utilizing existing G.I. Bill data was sought from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Old Dominion University (see Appendix A for the official IRB approval); the other HEIs investigated honor Old Dominion University's IRB approval.

Data were gathered from the respective institutional research offices for each of the selected HEIs. These data were then entered into IBM SPSS Statistics 21.0 (SPSS) software, which is a comprehensive system for data analysis.

The data were collected from two academic semesters of use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, which were Fall semester 2009 and Fall semester 2010. In this study, the dependent variable was retention.

**Data Categories.** The following categories were pulled from the data provided by each institution: ethnicity, age, gender, and use of the G.I. Bill. These allowed for comparison of retention across categories (e.g. women aged 23-27 were better retained then men in the same age category).

Interrater Reliability Procedures for Data Entry/Analysis. The researcher had a research team; one member of which who entered the data from the respective institutional research offices into SPSS. The researcher also entered the data into a different dataset. Once completely entered, both datasets were compared to ensure accuracy. Data were also spot-checked for agreement by a third person on the research team who did not enter any of the data. Once the statistical analyses were run, an independent statistical expert were also performed an analysis to ensure that results are consistent.

**Applicability of Data Analysis to Research Questions.** This study attempted to describe demographic and educational characteristics on two subgroups in college (those using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill to pay for college and those who are not using the benefit) by comparing retention in college during prescribed fall-fall terms. This was done through logistic regression and the predictors of retention found to be statistically significant will help drive the answers to the research questions. This design was selected because since students are either eligible for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill or they are not eligible, it was not possible to randomly assign subjects and manipulation of the covariates is not possible.

**Validity.** In this design, internal validity was not threatened because the groups were analyzed separately. The groups were, however, analyzed, as a whole to provide an overall picture of the populations. External validity can be threatened for the same reason as groups could not be randomly assigned, *a priori*, to a treatment group. However, this research was not able to manipulate the groups through treatments as the groups already existed. The researcher has made every effort to limit these effects by coding potential confounding variables as predictor variables in the regression model. However, it should be noted that despite efforts to control for both internal and external validity, that students may possess different traits and values that would affect their retention that have not been accounted for based on the available data. For example, some students will be true freshmen, some will have transfer, military, or experiential credit, some may be attending their institution for the first time, and others will have

worked for some amount of time prior to entering college. These different groups can have totally different experiences with respect to retention because of their differing backgrounds. Moreover, the variables are rather specific. Controls over the intervening variables may result in homogenous subjects in the comparison groups, making them too narrowly defined. In order to control for this, an attempt to generalize results to other populations and postsecondary institutions has been made. The outcome should provide other institutions of higher education a baseline on which to understand the effect of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill on retention in higher education.

**Statement of the Null Hypothesis.** A significance value of 0.05 was used to answer each hypothesis to show whether the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill has an effect on the retention of students using the benefit.

- 1.  $H_0$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of retention for students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.
- 2.  $H_01$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of retention for students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill in a public university in the Hampton Roads region.
- H<sub>0</sub>2 = There are no significant demographic predictors of retention for students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill in a for-profit college in the Hampton Roads region.
- 4.  $H_03$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of retention for students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill in a two-year public community college in the Hampton Roads region.

5.  $H_04$  = There are no significant demographic factors of freshman retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries

## **Data Analysis**

The approach used with the data analysis for this dissertation was twofold: a) an analysis of demographic factors that predict retention will be performed followed by b) a logistic regression analysis for the dependent and independent variables and  $\chi^2$  tests to evaluate differences in retention rates for the demographic predictors that were found significant. Relationships between a dependent and independent variables are often defined by regression models. The values of the coefficients were used to infer and describe relationships, any effect of the independent variables on the response, and the strength of the association between the dependent and independent variables.

# **Logistic Regression**

The approach used with the data analysis for this dissertation was binary logistic regression for the dependent and covariates and  $\chi^2$  tests to examine the significance of the difference in retention rates between the different demographic groups. Relationships between a dependent variable and the independent variables are often defined by regression models. The values of the coefficients were used to infer and describe relationships, any effect of the independent variables on the response, and the strength of the association between the dependent and independent variables.

A logistic regression model also differs from a linear regression model. For this study, the outcome variable is binary or dichotomous (Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2000)

meaning the outcome is comprised of two possible outcomes (retained or not retained). In the case of this dissertation, risk is essentially the possibility of not being retained. Logistic regression is designed to certify that the estimate of risk is always between 0 and 1 (Kleinbaum & Klein, 2002).

## **Analysis Justification**

The dependent variable, retention, is both binary, and categorical. In other words, the students are either being retained or they are not. This research was interested in examining the probability of progression and persistence through the use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, gender, race, and ethnicity as the independent variables. Thus, logistic regression was the best analysis for the dependent and independent variables and the results fall into categories that are not amenable to using a numerical analysis.

## Limitations

With any research design there are inherent limitations. With *ex post facto* research, since the variables have already been created, the researcher has no control over and cannot maneuver or randomize variables, which leads to difficulties in inferring causal effects (Cooper & Schindler, 2001). Some of the variables that limit this study included the geographical area, the number of selected institutions studied, and only examining the effect of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, if any, on retention of students, as opposed to other types of students. *Ex post facto* design can also have *post hoc* fallacy, which deals with "mistakenly attributing causation based on a relationship between two variables" (Ary, Jacobs, Sorensen, & Razavieh, 2010, p. 333). In order to make an attempt to avoid this fallacy, the researcher attempted to find a statistical relationship

between the dependent and independent variables (does a change in one variable affect a change in another?), ensure a temporal relationship between the variables (did the variables occur in a time sequence, one before the other?), and tried to eliminate confounding variables that might affect the independent variables (did anything else influence or determine the independent variables?) (Ary et al., 2010). Confounding variables included dependents using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, military and military-affiliated people who are eligible for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill but are not using it, those who are not degree-seeking students, and those using other iterations of the G.I. Bill. An attempt to control for these populations was made by only counting those using their Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefits.

#### Summary

Logistic regression was chosen to assess the retention of students during their freshman years at three different institutions in the Hampton Roads area of Southeastern Virginia. The dependent variable, retention, was examined in light of the covariates, to determine whether there was a difference for students' retention who are using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill in college.

# **CHAPTER 4 FINDINGS**

Three institutions in the southeastern region of Virginia were examined with regard to the retention of students, with a specific focus upon first year students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefits. Over two fall semesters (2009 and 2010), a total of 36,664 students were included in the study. Institution One I (I1) had a total of 18,189 students (49.6%), Institution Two (I2) had 17,599 students (48.5%), and Institution Three (I3) had 709 students (1.9%) resulting in the total number students whose records were examined.

# All Institutions

Institutions One, Two, and Three were examined using retention from the first to second year. Significant predictors of retention were G.I. Bill usage, gender, ethnicity, and age. Data from each institution were further examined in two sections: descriptive statistics and a preliminary binary logistic regression. Following the institutional breakdown is a section dedicated to further analysis of each of the significant predictors of retention.

#### **Frequency and Retention for All Institutions**

The records of all three institutions were examined to ascertain first to second year retention data on students. For Fall 2009, there were 19,065 students first year students registered. Regarding ethnicity of the 19,065 enrolled students there were 5,387 (28.3%) African Americans, 708 (3.7%) Asians, 1,019 (5.3%) Hispanics, 113 (0.6%) Native Americans, 161 (0.8%) Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders, 1,436 (7.5%) with Other ethnicity, and 10,241 (53.7%) Caucasians. African Americans were retained at a rate of 59.12%, Asians were retained at 66.38%, Hispanics were retained at 46.12%,

Native Americans were retained at 57.52%, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders were retained at 62.11%, those falling into the Other race category were retained at 70.40%, and Caucasians were retained at a 59.91% rate (see Table 4.1).

Table 4.1

Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African American	5,387	28.3	3,185	59.12
Asian	708	3.7	470	66.38
Hispanic	1,019	5.3	470	46.12
Native American	113	0.6	65	57.52
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	161	0.8	100	62.11
Other	1,436	7.5	1,011	70.40
Caucasian	10,241	53.7	5,958	58.12
Total	19,065	100	11,422	59.91

Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 17,329 (90.9%) did not use the benefit and 1,736 (9.1%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.2). Those who did not use the G.I. Bill were retained at 59.09% while those who did use the G.I. Bill were retained at 68.08%.

Table 4.2

G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	17,329	90.9	10,240	59.09
Has G.I. Bill	1,736	9.1	1,182	68.08
Total	19,065	100	11,422	59.91

The study participants included 794 (4.2%) students under the age of 18, 11,221 (58.9%) students aged 18-22, 2,984 (15.7%) students from age 23-27, 1,307 (6.9%) students aged 28-31, 1,127 (5.9%) students aged 32-37, 509 (2.7%) students aged 38-42, 578 (3.0%) students aged 43-47, and 545 (2.9%) students over the age of 48. Students under 18 were retained at 49.62%. Students aged 18-22 were retained at 61.64%. Students aged 23-27 were retained at 58.57%. Students aged 28-31 were retained at 59.14%. Students aged 32-37 were retained at 58.47%. Students aged 38-42 were retained at 56.18%. Students aged 43-47 were retained at 59.17%. Finally, those students over the age of 48 were retained at 55.59% (see Table 4.3).

Table 4.3

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	794	4.2	394	49.62
18 – 22	11,221	58.9	6,917	61.64
23 – 27	2,984	15.7	1,748	58.57
28-31	1,307	6.9	773	59.14
32 – 37	1,127	5.9	659	58.47
38-42	509	2.7	286	56.18
43 - 47	578	3.0	342	59.17
Over 48	545	2.9	303	55.59
Total	19,065	100	11,422	59.91

Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

The gender breakdown is 10,534 (55.3%) females and 8,531 (44.7%) males.

Regarding retention, females were retained at 60.13% and males were retained at 59.64% (see Table 4.4).

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	10,534	55.3	6,334	60.13
Male	8,531	44.7	5,088	59.64
Total	19,065	100	11,422	59.91

*II - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

For Fall 2010, 17,559 first year students were registered. Regarding ethnicity there were 5,114 (29.1%) African Americans, 703 (4.0%) Asians, 849 (4.8%) Hispanics, 104 (0.6%) Native Americans, 155 (0.9%) Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders, 1,101 (6.3%) with "Other" ethnicity, and 9,573 (54.4) Caucasians. African Americans were retained at 61.17%; Asians were retained at 68.99%; Hispanics were retained at 66.31%; and Native Americans were retained at 58.71%. Those with Other race were retained at 71.03%. Caucasian students were retained at 57.54% (see Table 4.5).

Table 4.511 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African American	5,115	29.1	3,129	61.17
Asian	703	4.0	485	68.99
Hispanic	849	4.8	563	66.31
Native American	104	0.6	73	70.19
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	155	0.9	91	58.71
Other	1,101	6.3	782	71.03
Caucasian	9,573	54.4	5,509	57.54
Total	17,599	100	10,632	60.41

Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 16,148 (91.8%) did not use the benefit and 1,451 (8.2%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill. Those who did not use the G.I. Bill were

retained at 59.82% compared to those who did use the G.I. Bill were retained at 66.99% (see Table 4.6).

Table 4.6

11 -	G.I. Bill –	Frequency	and Retention -	- Fall 2010

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	16,148	91.8	9,660	59.82
Has G.I. Bill	1,451	8.2	972	66.99
Total	17,599	100	10,632	60.41

The study participants included 617 (3.5%) students under the age of 18, 10,639 (60.5%) students aged 18-22, 2,665 (15.1%) students from age 23-27, 1,197 (6.8%) students aged 28-31, 946 (5.4%) students aged 32-37, 448 (2.5%) students aged 38-42, 578 (3.3%) students aged 43-47, and 509 (2.9%) students over the age of 48. Those under 18 were retained at 36.46%. Students aged 18-22 were retained at 63.61%. Students aged 23-27 were retained at 58.01%. Students aged 28-31 were retained at 57.31%. Students aged 32037 were retained at 57.31%. Students aged 38-42 were retained at 61.61%. Students aged 43-47 were retained at 56.57%. Students over 48 were retained at 49.90% (see Table 4.7).

Table 4.7

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	617	3.5	225	36.46
18 - 22	10,639	60.5	6,767	63.61
23 – 27	2,665	15.1	1,546	58.01
28 - 31	1,197	6.8	686	57.31
32 - 37	946	5.4	551	58.25
38 - 42	448	2.5	276	61.61
43 – 47	578	3.3	327	56.57
Over 48	509	2.9	254	49.90
Total	17,599	100	10,632	60.41

*II - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010* 

The gender breakdown was 9,589 (54.5%) females to 8,010 (45.5%) male.

Females were retained at 60.98% versus males who were retained at 59.74% (see Table 4.8).

# Table 4.8

*II - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	9,589	54.5	5,847	60.98
Male	8,010	45.5	4,785	59.74
Total	17,599	100	10,632	60.41

# **Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention for All Institutions**

**Fall 2009.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2009. Regression results are shown in Table 4.9.

							95% C	C.I.for
						_	EXF	<b>P</b> (B)
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	0.03	0.03	0.86	1	0.35	1.03	0.97	1.09
Age	-0.01	-0.00	19.74	1	0.00	0.99	0.99	1.00
G.I. Bill	0.44	0.05	64.00	1	0.00	1.55	1.39	1.73
Ethnicity	-0.01	0.01	2.91	1	0.09	0.99	0.98	1.00
Constant	0.56	0.07	65.75	1	0.00	1.74		

Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression

For gender, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.03, S.E. = 0.35, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that there are gender differences in retention rates with the overall student population. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.09, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.01, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that ethnicity is a predictor of student retention. However, the results differ for G.I. Bill and Age. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.44, S.E. = 0.05, so there is enough statistical evidence that retention rates differ between G.I. Bill beneficiaries and the general population of students. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.01, S.E. = -0.00, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that there are differences in retention between at least one age group and the others. An  $\chi^2$  analysis is performed in the section entitled Analysis of Significant Predictors of Retention, later in this chapter, for results found to be statistically significant.

**Fall 2010.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2010. Regression results are shown in Table 4.10.

							95% <b>(</b>	C.I.for
							EXE	P(B)
	E	<b>S</b> .E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	0.08	0.03	6.51	1	0.01	1.08	1.02	1.15
Age	-0.01	0.00	58.43	1	0.00	0.99	0.98	0.99
G.I. Bill	0.40	0.06	46.47	1	0.00	1.50	1.33	1.68
Ethnicity	-0.03	0.01	29.65	1	0.00	0.97	0.96	0.98
Constant	.075	0.07	110.25	1	0.00	2.13		

Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression

For Fall 2010, all categories were found to have statistical significance. For gender, the results show p = 0.01, B = 0.08, S.E. = 0.03, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender is a predictor of first year student retention. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.00, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that age is a predictor of student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.40, S.E. = 0.06, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that the G.I. Bill is a predictor of first year student retention. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.03, S.E. = 29.65, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that ethnicity is a predictor of student retention.

# Summary

In the following three sections, all institutions are analyzed individually, then by Term (Fall 2009 or Fall 2010) in respect to the categorical variables that were examined in the All Institution analysis, regardless of significance found.

#### **Institution One**

Institution One (I1) is a public university located in a metropolitan area of Southeastern Virginia. It has a student body of approximately 25,000, comprised of almost 19,000 undergraduates and 5,500 graduates. It is a doctoral-granting institution offering 66 bachelor's degrees, 56 master's degrees, two education specialist degrees, and 41 doctoral degrees (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013a). It has a Carnegie classification of Research University (high research activity) (Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching, 2013a). For 2012-13, university-reported retention rates for first time students pursuing bachelor's degrees were 80% for full-time students and 62% for part-time students. Graduation rates for students pursuing undergraduate degrees were 23% in four years, 50% in six years, and 56% in eight years (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013a).

## **Frequency and Retention for Institution One**

Institution One was examined for retention of students. The dependent variable was was retention. Significant predictors of retention were G.I. Bill usage, gender, ethnicity, and age. For Fall 2009, there were 9,059 students first year students registered. Of those students, 2,005 (22.1%) African Americans, 346 (3.8%) Asians, 471 (5.2%) Hispanics, 42 (0.5%) Native Americans, 58 (0.6%) Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders, 1,045

(11.5%) with unknown ethnicity, and 5,092 (56.2%) Caucasians (see

Table 4.11). Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 8,179 (90.3%) did not use the benefit and 880 (9.7%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.12). There were 85 (0.9%) students under the age of 18, 5,937 (65.6%) students aged 18-22, 1,036 (11.4%) students from age 23-27, 553 (6.1%) students aged 28-31, 433 (4.9%) students aged 32-37, 264 (3.0%) students aged 38-42, 203 (2.2%) students aged 43-47, and 213 (2.3%) students over the age of 48 (see

Table 4.13). The gender breakdown was 4,869 (53.7%) females to 4,190 (46.3%) male (see Table 4.14).

# Table 4.11

*I1 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African-American	2,005	22.1	1,622	80.9
Asian	346	3.8	267	77.2
Hispanic	471	5.2	362	76.9
Native American	42	0.5	36	85.7
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	58	0.6	46	79.3
Other	1,045	11.5	490	74.9
Caucasian	5,092	56.2	3,474	68.2
Total	9,059	100.0	6,594	72.8

Table 4.12

II - G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	8,179	90.3	5,976	73.1
Has G.I. Bill	880	9.7	618	70.2
Total	9,059	100.0	6,594	72.8

Table 4.13

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	85	0.9	66	77.6
18 – 22	5,937	65.6	4,394	74.0
23 – 27	1,036	11.4	955	69.7
28-31	553	6.1	394	71.2
32 – 37	433	4.9	315	72.7
38-42	264	3.0	178	67.4
43 - 47	203	2.2	138	68.0
Over 48	213	2.3	154	72.3
Total	9,059	100.0	6,594	72.8

*II - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

#### Table 4.14

Il - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	4,869	53.7	3,575	73.4
Male	4,190	46.3	3,019	72.1
Total	9,059	100.0	6,594	72.8

For Fall 2010, there were 9,130 students first year students registered. Of those, 2,211 (24.2%) were African Americans, 383 (4.2%) Asians, 505 (5.5%) Hispanics, 46 (0.5%) Native Americans, 47 (0.5%) Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders, 952 (10.4%) with "Other" ethnicity, and 4,986 (54.6%) Caucasians (see Table 4.15). Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 8.356 (91.5%) did not use the benefit and 774 (8.5%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.16). Eighty five (0.9%) students were under the age of 18, 5,842 (64.0%) students aged 18-22, 1,389 (15.1%) students from age 23-27, 620 (6.7%) students aged 28-31, 464 (5.0%) students aged 32-37, 273 (2.9%) students aged 38-42, 243 (2.6%) students aged 43-47, and 214 (2.2%) students over the age of 48 (see Table

4.17). The gender breakdown was 4,857 (53.2%) females to 4,273 (46.8%) male (see Table 4.18).

# Table 4.15

*I1 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African-American	2,211	24.2	1,767	79.9
Asian	383	4.2	293	76.5
Hispanic	505	5.5	391	77.4
Native American	46	0.5	41	89.1
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	47	0.5	35	74.5
Other	952	10.4	713	73.1
Caucasian	4,986	54.6	3,386	67.9
Total	9,130	100.0	6,626	72.6

# Table 4.16

II - G.I. Bill - Frequency and Retention - Fall 2010

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	8,356	91.5	6,083	73.8
Has G.I. Bill	774	8.5	543	70.2
Total	9,130	100.0	6,626	72.6

Table 4.17

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	85	0.9	70	82.3
18 - 22	5,842	64.0	4,299	73.6
23 - 27	1,389	15.1	1,029	74.1
28 - 31	620	6.7	433	70.0
32 - 37	464	5.0	309	66.6
38 - 42	273	2.9	189	69.2
43 – 47	243	2.6	161	66.2
Over 48	214	2.2	136	63.6
Total	9,130	100.0	6,626	72.6

*II - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010* 

Table 4.18

*I1 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2010* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	4,857	53.2	3,519	72.5
Male	4,273	46.8	3,107	72.7
Total	9,130	100.0	6,626	72.6

# Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention for Institution One

**Fall 2009.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2009. Regression results are shown in Table 4.19.

							95% C	C.I.for
						_	EXF	<b>P</b> (B)
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	0.05	0.05	1.22	1	0.27	1.05	0.96	1.16
Age	-0.01	0.00	9.05	1	0.00	0.99	0.99	1.00
G.I. Bill	-0.01	0.08	0.02	1	0.90	0.99	0.85	1.16
Ethnicity	-0.11	0.01	111.93	1	0.00	0.90	0.88	0.92
Constant	1.68	0.11	216.24	1	0.00	5.37		

II - Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression

For gender, the results show that p = 0.27, B = 0.05, S.E. = 0.05, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.90, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.08, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that the G.I. Bill has an impact on first year student retention. However, the results differ for age and ethnicity. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.00, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on student retention. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.11, S.E. = 0.01, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on student retention.

**Fall 2010.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2010. Regression results are shown in Table 4.20.

							95% <b>(</b>	C.I.for
							EXI	P(B)
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	-0.02	0.05	0.17	1	0.68	.98	.89	1.08
Age	-0.02	0.00	27.78	1	0.00	0.99	0.98	0.99
G.I. Bill	0.02	0.08	0.04	1	0.84	1.02	0.86	1.20
Ethnicity	-0.10	0.01	108.46	1	0.00	0.90	0.89	0.92
Constant	1.88	0.11	282.54	1.00	.00	6.55		

II - Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression

For gender, the results show that p = 0.68, B = -0.02, S.E. = 0.05, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.84, B = 0.02, S.E. = 0.08, , so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that the G.I. Bill has an impact on first year student retention. However, the results differ for age and ethnicity. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.02, S.E. = 0.00, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on student retention. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.10, S.E. = 0.01, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that ethnicity has an impact on student retention.

## **Institution Two**

Institution Two (I2) is a public community college located in a metropolitan area of Southeastern Virginia. It has a student body of approximately 32,100. It is an associate-granting institution offering four associate degrees (Associate in Arts, Associate in Sciences, Associate in Arts and Sciences, Associate of Applied Science) (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013b). It has a Carnegie classification as an Associate's—Public Suburban-serving Single Campus (Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching, 2013b). College-reported retention rates for first time students pursuing associate's degrees are 62% for full-time students and 43% for part-time students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013b). Graduation rates for students pursuing associate degrees are 5% in two years, 13% in four years, and 18% in six years (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013b).

## **Frequency and Retention for Institution Two**

Institution Two was examined for retention of students. Significant predictors of retention were G.I. Bill usage, gender, ethnicity, and age. For Fall 2009, 9,546 students first year students registered. Of those, 3,260 (34.2%) were African Americans, 348 (3.6%) Asians, 527 (5.5%) Hispanics, 70 (0.7%) Native American, 103 (1.1%) Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 257 (2.7%) Other, and 4,981 (52.2%) Caucasians (see Table 4.21). Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 8,835 (92.6%) did not use the benefit and 711 (7.4%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.22). 1,900 (7.4%) students were under the age of 18, 5,107 (53.5%) students aged 18-22, 1,509 (15.8%) students from age 23-27, 697 (7.3%) students aged 28-31, 646 (6.8%) students aged 32-37, 312 (3.3%) students aged 38-42, 257 (2.7%) students aged 43-47, and 315 (3.3%) students over the age of 48 (see Table 4.23). The gender breakdown was 10,008 (56.3%) females to 7,758 (43.7%) male (see Table 4.24).

Table 4.21

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African-American	3260	34.2	1790	54.9
Asian	348	3.6	158	45.4
Hispanic	527	5.5	274	52.0
Native American	70	0.7	42	60.0
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	103	1.1	49	47.6
Other	257	2.7	131	51.0
Caucasian	4981	52.2	2634	52.9
Total	9546	100	5078	53.2

*I2 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

# Table 4.22

I2 - G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	8835	92.6	4812	54.4
Has G.I. Bill	711	7.4	445	62.6
Total	9546	100	5078	53.2

# Table 4.23

*I2 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	703	7.4	378	53.8
18 – 22	5107	53.5	2717	53.2
23 – 27	1509	15.8	802	53.1
28-31	697	7.3	362	51.9
32 – 37	646	6.8	341	52.8
38-42	312	3.3	152	48.7
43-47	257	2.7	147	57.2
Over 48	315	3.3	179	56.8
Total	9546	100	5078	53.2

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	5381	56.4	2832	52.6
Male	4165	43.6	2246	53.9
Total	9546	100	5078	53.2

*I2 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

For Fall 2010, 8,220 students first year students were registered. Of those, 2,813 (34.2 %) were African Americans, 307 (3.7 %) Asians, 329 (4.0 %) Hispanics, 54 (0.7 %) Native Americans, 108 (1.3 %) Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders, 138 (1.7 %) with "Other" ethnicity, and 4,471 (54.4 %) Caucasians (see Table 4.25). Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 7,632 (92.8 %) did not use the benefit and 588 (7.2 %) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.26). 527 (5.6 %) were students under the age of 18, 4,692 (57.1 %) students aged 18-22, 1,222 (14.9 %) students from age 23-27, 554 (6.7 %) students aged 28-31, 462 (5.6 %) students aged 32-37, 264 (3.2 %) students aged 38-42, 218 (2.7 %) students aged 43-47, and 281 (3.4 %) students over the age of 48 (see Table 4.27). The gender breakdown was 5.381 (56.4 %) females to 4,165 (43.6 %) male (see Table 4.28).

Table 4.25

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African-American	2813	34.2	1302	46.3
Asian	307	3.7	179	58.3
Hispanic	329	4.0	158	48.0
Native American	54	0.7	29	53.1
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	108	1.3	56	51.9
Other	138	1.7	60	43.5
Caucasian	4471	54.4	2032	45.5
Total	8220	100.0	3816	46.4

*I2 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

# Table 4.26

I2 - G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	7632	92.8	3461	45.3
Has G.I. Bill	588	7.2	355	60.3
Total	8220	100.0	3816	46.4

# Table 4.27

I2 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

12 Hge Trequency and Retenuion	1 att 2007			
	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	527	5.6	151	28.7
18-22	4692	57.1	2392	51.0
23 – 27	1222	14.9	474	38.8
28-31	554	6.7	237	42.8
32 – 37	462	5.6	225	48.7
38-42	264	3.2	132	50.0
43 – 47	218	2.7	98	44.9
Over 48	281	3.4	107	38.1
Total	8220	100.0	3816	46.4
	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
--------	-----------	---------	----------	---------
Female	4627	56.3	2247	48.6
Male	3593	43.7	1569	43.7
Total	8220	100.0	3816	46.4

*I2 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

#### Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention for Institution Two

**Fall 2009.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2009. Regression results are shown in Table 4.29

#### Table 4.29

							95% C.I.for		
							EXF	<b>P</b> (B)	
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Gender	0.03	0.04	0.61	1	0.43	1.03	0.95	1.12	
Age	-0.01	0.00	7.95	1	0.00	0.99	0.99	1.00	
G.I. Bill	0.76	0.08	81.00	1	0.00	2.14	1.81	2.52	
Ethnicity	0.01	0.01	1.36	1	0.24	1.01	0.99	1.02	
Constant	-0.10	0.10	1.22	1	0.27	0.90			

12 - Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression

For gender, the results show that p = 0.43, B = 0.03, S.E. = 0.04, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.24, B = 0.01, S.E. = 0.08, showing that there is no statistical evidence that ethnicity does not have an impact on retention rates. However, the results differ for age and G.I. Bill usage. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.00, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.76, S.E. = 0.08, o there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that the G.I. Bill has an impact on first year student retention.

**Fall 2010.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2010. Regression results are shown in Table 4.30.

#### Table 4.30

12 - Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression

	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	95% C.I.for	
							EXF	<b>P</b> (B)
							Lower	Upper
Gender	0.25	0.05	29.34	1	0.00	1.28	1.17	1.40
Age	-0.01	0.00	31.20	1	0.00	0.99	0.98	0.99
G.I. Bill	0.75	0.09	69.67	1	0.00	2.12	1.78	2.53
Ethnicity	-0.01	0.01	3.13	1	0.08	0.09	0.97	1.00
Constant	-0.16	0.10	2.44	1	.012	0.85		

For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.08, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.01, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that ethnicity has an impact on first year student retention. However, the results differ for age, G.I. Bill usage and ethnicity. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.01, S.E. = 0.00, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.75, S.E. = 0.09, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that the G.I. Bill has an impact on first year student retention. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.01, S.E. = 0.01, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on student retention.

#### **Institution Three**

Institution Three (I3) is a four year for-profit college located in a metropolitan area of Southeastern Virginia. It has a student body of approximately 10,760. It is a master's granting institution offering 19 associates, 14 bachelors, and 1 master degree. Approximate undergraduate enrollment is 10,700 and graduate enrollment is 20 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013c). It has a Carnegie classification as an Associate's – Private For-Profit 4-year Primarily Associate's (Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching, 2013c). College-reported retention rates for first time students pursuing bachelor's degrees are 64% for full-time students (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013c). Graduation rates for students pursuing associate degrees are 38% in four years, 38% in five years, and 38% in six years (National Center for Education Statistics, 2013c).

#### **Frequency and Retention for Institution Three**

Institution Three was examined for retention of students. Significant predictors of retention were G.I. Bill usage, gender, ethnicity, and age. For Fall 2009, 460 students first year students registered. Of those, 122 (26.5%) were African Americans, 14 (3.0%) Asians, 21 (4.6%) Hispanics, 1 (0.2%) Native American, 134 (29.1%) with Other ethnicity, and 168 (36.5%) Caucasians (see Table 4.31). There were no Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders. Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 315 (68.4%) did not use the benefit and 145 (31.6%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.32). Six (0.1%) students were under the age of 18, 177 (38.4%) students aged 18-22, 103 (22.3%) students from

age 23-27, 57 (12.4%) students aged 28-31, 48 (10.4%) students aged 32-37, 25 (5.4%) students aged 38-42, 26 (5.6%) students aged 43-47, and 17 (3.6%) students over the age of 48 (see Table 4.33). The gender breakdown was 281 (61%) females to 103 (39%) male (see Table 4.34).

#### Table 4.31

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African-American	122	26.5	42	34.4
Asian	14	3.0	4	28.6
Hispanic	21	4.6	9	42.9
Native American	1	0.2	0	0.0
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	-	-	-	-
Other	134	29.1	98	73.13
Caucasian	168	36.5	61	36.3
Total	460	100	145	31.5

*I3 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

## Table 4.32

*I3 - G.I. Bill – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
No G.I. Bill	315	68.5	17	5.4
Has G.I. Bill	145	31.5	128	88.2
Total	460	100	145	31.5

Table 4.33

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	6	1.3	0	0.0
18 – 22	177	38.5	15	34.9
23 – 27	103	22.6	50	48.5
28-31	57	12.4	21	36.8
32 – 37	48	10.4	23	48.1
38-42	25	5.4	14	47.9
43 - 47	26	5.7	14	53.8
Over 48	17	3.7	7	41.2
Total	460	100	145	31.5

*I3 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

#### Table 4.34

*I3 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	281	61.1	70	24.9
Male	176	38.3	75	42.6
Missing	3	0.7	0	0.6
Total	460	100	145	31.5

For Fall 2010, 249 students first year students were registered. Of those, 90 (3.6%) were African Americans, 14 (5.6%) Asians, 21 (8.4%) Hispanics, 4 (1.6%) Native Americans, 11 (4.4%) with Other ethnicity, and 116 (46.6%) Caucasians (see Table 4.35). There were no Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders. Regarding G.I. Bill usage, 165 (66.2%) did not use the benefit and 89 (35.8%) used some iteration of the G.I. Bill (see Table 4.36). Five (2.0%) students were under the age of 18, 105 (42.2%) students aged 18-22, 54 (21.7%) students from age 23-27, 23 (9.2%) students aged 28-31, 20 (8.0%) students aged 32-37, 20 (8.0%) students aged 38-42, 8 (3.2%) students aged 43-

47, and 14 (5.6%) students over the age of 48 (see Table 4.37). The gender breakdown was 103 (42.7%) females to 138 (57.3%) male (see Table 4.38).

# Table 4.35

13 - Ethnicity – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
African-American	90	36.1	60	66.7
Asian	13	5.2	13	100
Hispanic	15	6.0	14	93.3
Native American	3	1.2	2	66.7
Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	-	-		
Other	11	4.4	9	81.1
Caucasian	116	46.6	91	78.4
Total	249	100	190	76.3

## Table 4.36

15 - G.1. Bill – Frequency and Relention – Fall 2009						
	Frequency	Percent	Reta			
No G.I. Bill	160	64.3				

CI Bill 12  $\boldsymbol{F}$ 10 ..... E 11 2000

13 - O.I. But – Frequency and Refension – Fall 2009						
	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent		
No G.I. Bill	160	64.3	116	72.5		
Has G.I. Bill	89	35.7	74	83.1		
Total	249	100	190	76.3		

Table 4.37

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Under 18	5	2.0	4	80.0
18 – 22	105	42.2	76	72.4
23 – 27	54	21.7	43	79.6
28-31	23	9.2	16	69.6
32 – 37	20	8.0	17	85.0
38-42	20	8.0	16	80.0
43 - 47	8	3.2	7	87.5
Over 48	14	5.6	11	78.6
Total	249	100	190	76.3

*I3 - Age – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

#### Table 4.38

*I3 - Gender – Frequency and Retention – Fall 2009* 

	Frequency	Percent	Retained	Percent
Female	102	41.0	77	75.4
Male	139	55.8	105	75.5
Missing	8	3.2	8	100
Total	249	100	190	76.3

## **Binary Logistic Regression on the Four Predictors of Retention**

**Fall 2009.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2009. Regression results are shown in Table 4.39.

							95% C.I	l.for
						_	EXP(1	B)
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	0.68	0.26	6.93	1	0.01	0.51	0.31	0.84
Age	0.00	0.01	0.11	1	0.74	1.00	0.98	1.03
G.I. Bill	0.19	0.27	0.52	1	0.47	1.21	0.72	2.06
Ethnicity	0.02	0.05	0.22	1	0.64	1.02	0.93	1.12
Constant	2.13	0.63	11.53	1	0.00	8.38		

13 - Fall 2009 Binary Logistic Regression

For age, the results show that p = 0.74, B = 0.00, S.E. = 0.01, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that age is a predictor of student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.47, B = 0.19, S.E. = 0.27, so there is no statistical evidence that G.I. Bill usage has an impact on retention rates. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.64, B = 0.02, S.E. = 0.05, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that ethnicity has an impact on student retention. However, the results differ for gender. For gender, the results show that p = 0.01, B = 0.68, S.E. = 0.26, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention.

**Fall 2010.** A binary logistic regression was run on the four significant predictors of of retention: gender, age, G.I. Bill usage, and ethnicity to evaluate first year student retention in Fall 2010. Regression results are shown in

Table 4.40.

							95% C	C.I.for
						-	EXF	<b>P</b> (B)
	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	0.22	0.31	0.49	1	0.48	1.24	0.67	2.30
Age	0.00	0.02	0.00	1	0.99	1.00	0.97	1.04
G.I. Bill	0.65	0.37	3.09	1	0.08	1.92	0.93	3.98
Ethnicity	0.07	0.05	1.78	1	0.18	1.08	0.97	1.20
Constant	0.36	0.66	0.30	1	0.59	1.43		

13 - Fall 2010 Binary Logistic Regression

For gender, the results show that p = 0.48, B = 0.22, S.E. = 0.31, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention. For age, the results show that p = 0.99, B = 0.00, S.E. = 0.02, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on first year student retention. For G.I. Bill usage, the results show that p = 0.08, B = 0.65, S.E. = 0.37, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that G.I. Bill usage has an impact on student retention. For ethnicity, the results show that p = 0.18, B = 0.07, S.E. = 0.05, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that ethnicity has an impact on student retention.

#### **Analysis of Significant Predictors of Retention**

Each of the institutions was examined for the following significant predictors of retention: age, ethnicity, gender, and G.I. Bill usage. This section further explores each category. Due to the binary nature of the regression, each of the categories, with the exception of gender which is already binary, were recoded into the following:

- Age:
  - Traditional age (18-22)
  - Non-traditional-age (all other ages)
- Ethnicity:
  - Representative (Caucasian)
  - Non-representative (Non-Caucasian)
- G.I. Bill
  - Using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill
  - Not using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

#### **Significant Predictors of Retention for Institution One**

For both Fall 2009 and Fall 2010, age and ethnicity were proven to have an impact on student retention. Pearson Chi-Square ( $\chi^2$ ) tests were run on these predictors to analyze impact. Pearson Chi-Square tests allow for three types of testing: goodness of fit, independence, and the equality of *c* population proportions "to see whether population proportions are equal" (R. E. Kirk, 2008, p. 469).

For Fall 2009, an  $\chi^2$  was performed based on the new binary data. It found that age and ethnicity were still significant, while gender and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were not statistically significant. For age, a Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship between retention and age,  $\chi^2$  (1, n= 9,059) = 12.97, *p* = 0.00. This is congruent with the retention results by each group – the traditional-age group (18-22) had a 74.0% retention rate versus those who were out of the traditional-age (not 18-22) with a retention rate of 70.5%. For ethnicity, there was also a significant relationship,  $\chi^2$  (1, n= (9,059) = 122.34, p = 0.00. Caucasians were retained at 68.2% versus non-Caucasians who had a retention rate of 78.7%. For gender, males were better retained at 73.4% versus their female counterparts, who were retained at a 72.1% rate. For use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, there was a 71.2% retention rate versus a retention rate of 72.9% for those not using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

For Fall 2010, an  $\chi^2$  was performed based on the new binary data. It found that age and ethnicity were still significant, while gender and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were not statistically significant. For age, a Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship between retention and age,  $\chi^2$  (1, n= 9130) = 8.378, p = 0.00. This is congruent with the retention results by each group – the traditional-age group (18-22) had a 73.6% retention rate versus those who were out of the traditional-age (not 18-22) with a retention rate of 70.8%. For ethnicity, there was also a significant relationship,  $\chi^2$  (1, n= 9130) = 120.04, p = 0.00. Non-Caucasians were retained at 78.2% versus Caucasians who had a retention rate of 67.9%. For gender, males were better retained at 72.7% versus their female counterparts, who were retained at a 72.5% rate. For use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, there was a 71.5% retention rate versus a retention rate of 72.7% for those not using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

#### Significant Predictors of Retention for Institution Two

For Fall 2009, age and G.I. Bill usage were shown to have an impact on student retention; for Fall 2010, age, G.I. Bill usage, and gender were shown to have an impact on student retention. For Fall 2009, an  $\chi^2$  was performed based on the new binary data. It found that use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill versus those who do not use the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill was still significant, while age, ethnicity, and gender were not statistically

significant. With regard to use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, a Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship between use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill and age,  $\chi^2$  (1, n = 9546) = 76.86, p = 0.00. This is congruent with the retention rates of each group – those using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill had a retention rate of 62.6% versus those not using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill with a retention rate of 45.5%. For gender, females were retained at 47.4%, which was better than their male counterparts who were retained at a 46.1% rate. For age, those in the 18-22 age group were retained at the same rate of 46.8% like their counterparts who were retained at a 47.1% rate, which is better than their counterparts who were retained at a 46.5% rate.

For Fall 2010, an  $\chi^2$  was performed based on the new binary data. It found that gender, age, and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were statistically significant while ethnicity was not found to be statistically significant. A Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship between gender and retention,  $\chi^2$  (1, n = 8220) = 19.48, p = 0.00. For gender, females were retained at a rate of 48.6% versus their male counterparts who were retained at a 43.7% rate. For age, a Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship between age and retention,  $\chi^2$  (1, n = 8220) = 91.28, p = 0.00. Students aged 18-22 were retained at a rate of 51.0%, which was better than their counterparts who were retained at a 40.4% rate. For Post-9/11 G.I. Bill usage, a Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship between those using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill and those who did not use it,  $\chi^2$  (1, n = 8220) = 49.56, p = 0.00. Those who did use the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were retained at a rate of 60.4% versus their counterparts who were retained at a 45.3% rate. Non-Caucasians were retained at a rate of 47.6%, which is better than Caucasians, who were retained at a 45.4% rate.

#### **Significant Predictors of Retention for Institution Three**

For Fall 2009, gender was proven to have an impact on student retention and none of the significant predictors showed a statistical relationship for Fall 2010. For Fall 2009, an  $\chi^2$  was performed based on the new binary data. It found that gender was statistically significant, while age, ethnicity, and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were not. For gender, a Pearson Chi-Square showed a significant relationship,  $\chi^2$  (1, n = 460) = 8.13, *p* = 0.00. Males were retained at 85.2% while females were retained at 73.9%. Students aged 18-22 were retained at a lower rate of 75.1% compared to their counterparts who were retained at 80.2%. Caucasians were retained at a 81.5% rate compared to Non-Caucasians who were retained at a 76.4% rate. Finally those students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were retained at 85.2% compared to those not using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill who were retained at 75.6%.

For Fall 2010, an  $\chi^2$  was performed based on the new binary data. It found that none of the groups were statistically significant. For gender, 75.7% of males were retained compared to 77.1% females. For age, students aged 18-22 were retained at 72.4% compared to their counterparts who were retained at 79.2%. Caucasians were retained at a higher rate of 78.4% compared to their non-Caucasian counterparts who were retained at 74.4%. Finally, those using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were retained at a higher rate of 82.1% compared to those who did not use the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill who were retained at 73.3%.

# Comparison of the Demographic Factors of Retention for the General Population of Students to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill Students

A binary logistic regression was performed to determine the demographic factors of retention of the general population of students compared to students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit. This was followed by a  $\chi^2$  analysis of all of the demographic factors tested in this study. A breakdown of the general population compared to the population of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit users is provided in Table 4.41. The logistic regression and  $\chi^2$  results follow.

# Table 4.41

General Population of First Year Students as Compared to the Population of Post-9/11

		General Population	Percent of Population	Post-9/11 G.I. Bill Users	Percent of Population
Gender	Male	15,069	44.4%	1,472	53.7%
	Female	18,853	55.6%	1,270	46.3%
Age	Under 18	1,398	4.1%	13	0.5%
	18-22	21,001	61.9%	859	31.3%
	23-27	4,892	14.4%	757	27.6%
	28-31	2,146	6.3%	358	13.1%
	32-37	1,786	5.3%	287	10.5%
	38-42	825	2.4%	132	4.8%
	43-47	956	2.8%	200	7.3%
	Over 48	918	2.7%	136	5.0%
Race	African-American	9,919	29.2%	582	21.2%
	Asian	1,262	3.7%	149	5.4%
	Hispanic	1,744	5.1%	124	4.5%
	Native American	205	0.6%	12	0.4%
	Native Hawaiian or	268	0.8%	48	1.8%
	Pacific Islander				
	Other	2,377	7.0%	160	5.8%
	Caucasian	18147	53.5%	1,667	60.8%
TOTAL		33,922	100%	2,742	100%

G.I. Bill Beneficiaries

For the general population of students, 33,922 records were analyzed. For gender, 15,069 were males (44.4%) and 18,853 were females (55.6%). Race included 9,919 African-Americans (29.2%), 1,262 Asians (3.7%), 1,744 Hispanics (5.1%), 205 Native

Americans (0.6%), 268 Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders (0.8%), 2,377 Other Race (7.0%), and 18,147 Caucasians (53.5%). For age, 1,398 (4.1%) were under the age of 18, 21,001 (61.9%) who were 18-22, 4,892 (14.4%) aged 23-27, 2,146 (6.3%) aged 28-31, 1,786 (5.3%) aged 32-37, 825 (2.4%) aged 38-42, 956 (2.8%) aged 42-47, and 918 (2.7%) who were over 48 years old.

A logistic regression was run on the general population of students to determine which demographic factors were statistically significant. For gender, the results show that p = 0.01, B = -0.06, S.E. = 0.02, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention for the general population of students. For age, the results show that p = 0.00, B = -0.30, S.E. = 0.02, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on first year student retention for the general population of students. For race, the results show that p = 0.00, B = 0.22, S.E. = 0.02, so there is enough statistical evidence to suggest that race has an impact on first year student retention for the general population of students. Regression results are shown in Table 4.42.

	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	95% C	C.I.for
							EXP	<b>P</b> (B)
							Lower	Upper
GENDER	-0.06	0.02	7.43	1	0.01	0.94	.90	0.98
AGE	-0.30	0.02	176.45	1	0.00	0.74	.70	0.77
RACE	0.22	0.02	100.27	1	0.00	1.25	1.20	1.31
Constant	0.51	0.05	110.03	1	0.00	1.66		

Logistic Regression Results for the General Population of Students

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: GENDER, AGE, RACE

For users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, 2,742 records were analyzed. For gender, 1,472 males were (53.7%) and 1,270 were females (46.3%). Race included 582 African-Americans (29.2%), 149 Asians (5.4%), 124 Hispanics (4.5%), 12 Native Americans (0.4%), 48 Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders (1.8%), 160 Other Race (5.8%), and 1,667 Caucasians (60.8%). For age, 13 (0.5%) were under the age of 18, 859 (31.3%) who were 18-22, 757 (27.6%) aged 23-27, 358 (13.1%) aged 28-31, 287 (10.5%) aged 32-37, 132 (4.8%) aged 38-42, 200 (7.3%) aged 42-47, and 136 (5.0%) who were over 48 years old.

A logistic regression was run on the students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill which demographic to determine which factors were statistically significant. For gender, the results show that p = 0.79, B = 0.02, S.E. = 0.08, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that gender has an impact on first year student retention for users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. For age, the results show that p = 0.08, B = -0.16, S.E. = 0.09, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that age has an impact on first year student retention for users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. For race, the results show that p = 0.36, B = 0.08, S.E. = 0.08, so there is not enough statistical evidence to suggest that race Regression results are shown in Table 4.43.

#### Table 4.43

Logistic Reg.	ression Result	ts for Users	of the Post-	9/11 G.I	Bill Benefit
0 0			<i>v</i>		

has an impact on first year student retention for users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

	В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	95% ( EXF	C.I.for P(B)
							Lower	Upper
GENDER	0.02	0.08	0.07	1	0.79	1.02	0.87	1.20
AGE	-0.16	0.09	3.11	1	0.08	0.85	0.71	1.02
RACE	0.08	0.08	0.82	1	0.36	1.08	0.92	1.27
Constant	0.89	0.20	19.28	1	0.00	2.44		

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: GENDER, AGE, RACE.

A  $\chi^2$  was performed on the three demographic factors: gender, age, and race for both populations – the general population and the users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit for first year students. For gender,  $\chi^2 = (1, N = 2742) = 0.39$ , p = 0.53, so there is no statistically significant association between gender and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. For age,  $\chi^2 = (7, N = 2742) = 5.58$ , p = 0.58, so there is so there is no statistical significance between age and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. For race,  $\chi^2 = (6, N = 2742) = 12.94$ , p =0.44, so there is no statistically significant association between age and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

#### Conclusion

Recoding the data into true binary datasets created some differences in the logistic regression. For Institution One, initially for Fall 2009 and Fall 2010, age and ethnicity were found to be significant. For Institution Two, for Fall 2009, age and the use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill were initially found to be statistically significant, however after recoding into true binary, only the use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill remained statistically significant. For Fall 2010, gender, age, and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill remained statistically significant. For Fall 2010, gender, age, and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill remained statistically significant. For Institution Three for Fall 2009, gender remained statistically significant, and for Fall 2010, nothing again was found to be statistically significant. A Pearson Chi-Square analysis revealed no statistically significance between the gender, age, and race categories and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

A comparison of the initial regression compared to the binary analysis is shown in Table 4.44. It is immediately followed by Table 4.45 which provides a visual representation of the retention rates across all three institutions per semester. Finally, Table 4.46 provides a comparison of student retention for first year students in the general population compared to student retention for first year students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit.

# Table 4.44

		Initial Age	Binary Age	Initial Ethnicity	Binary Ethnicity	Initial Gender	Binary Gender	Initial Post- 9/11 G.I.	Binary Post- 0/11 G I
Inst.1	Fall 2009	Х	Х	Х	Х				
	Fall 2010	Х	Х	Х					
Inst. 2	Fall 2009	Х						Х	Х
	Fall 2010	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х	Х
Inst. 3	Fall 2009					Х	Х		
	Fall 2010								

# Initial Regression Compared to the Binary Analysis

# Table 4.45

# Binary Analysis Retention Rate Comparison

		18-22	Not 18-22	Caucasian	Not Caucasian	Male	Female	Using Post- 9/11 G.I. Bill	Not Using Post-9/11 G.I. Bill
Inst.1	Fall 2009	74.0%	73.6%	68.2%	67.9%	73.4%	72.7%	71.2%	71.5%
	Fall 2010	70.5%	70.8%	78.7%	78.2%	72.1%	72.5%	72.9%	72.7%
Inst. 2	Fall 2009	46.8%	51.0%	47.1%	46.5%	46.1%	47.4%	62.6%	60.4%
	Fall 2010	46.8%	40.4%	45.4%	47.6%	43.7%	48.6%	45.5%	45.3%
Inst. 3	Fall 2009	75.1%	80.2%	81.5%	76.4%	85.2%	73.9%	85.2%	82.1%
	Fall 2010	72.4%	79.2%	78.4%	74.4%	75.7%	77.1%	82.1%	73.3%

## Table 4.46

# Comparison of First Year Student Retention

	Post-9/11 G	.I. Bill Users		General Population of Students			
	Number of Students	Retained	Retention Rate	Number of Students	Retained	Retention Rate	
Fall 2009	1485	1014	68.28%	17580	10408	59.20%	
Fall 2010	669	487	72.80%	16342	9790	59.90%	

#### **CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION**

The purpose of this study was to examine the demographic factors that correlate with retention of students who are recipients of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill compared to the general population of students in the Hampton Roads region of Virginia. Three diverse institutions were examined to determine demographic predictors of retention. These included a four-year public university, a two year public community college, and a four year for-profit university. These institutions were all located in the Hampton Roads area of Southeastern Virginia.

The dependent variable that guided this study was retention. Students in their first year (regardless of prior college, equivalent training) were analyzed with regard to the following demographic factors: gender, ethnicity, and age. These were also compared to students who used or did not use the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. A binary logistic regression analysis was run for the institutions as a whole as well as for each individual institution for both the Fall 2009 and Fall 2010 semesters. This was followed by an  $\chi^2$  analysis to examine the demographic factors that were found to be statistically significant. This chapter provides discussion, implications for theory and practice, and recommendations for future research, and provides a conclusion to the dissertation.

#### **Research Questions**

The following research questions guided this study.

 What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in the Hampton Roads region? This question prompted secondary questions for each of the postsecondary institutions being studied.

- 2. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a public university in the Hampton Roads region?
- 3. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public community college in the Hampton Roads region?
- 4. What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first to second year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a for-profit college in the Hampton Roads region?

A final research question allowed for a comparison of populations:

5. What are the demographic factors of retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries?

#### **Discussion of Research Findings**

The research questions centered on demographic factors of retention for first year students at three institutions in Southeastern Virginia. The analysis examined the following demographic factors: age, ethnicity, gender, and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill for students at each of the institutions.

Overall, for Fall 2009, there were 18,104,117 undergraduate students enrolled at Title IV institutions across the United States; of those, 2,766,099 (15.3%) were first time students. 1,670,801 (16.6%) were first time students enrolled at four-year public institutions, 160,434 (13.4%) enrolled at private-for-profit institutions, and 812,064 (11.3%) enrolled in two-year public institutions (Knapp, Kelly-Reid, & Ginder, 2011).
For Fall 2010, there were 18,650,251 undergraduate students enrolled at Title IV institutions across the United States; of those, 2,723,602 (14.6%) were first time students.
1,838,138 (13.3%) first time students were enrolled at four-year public institutions, 369,384 enrolled at private-for-profit institutions, and 782,540 enrolled in two-year public institutions (Knapp, Kelly-Reid, & Ginder, 2012).

#### Table 5.1

	Fall 2009	Fall 2010
United States	2,766,099	2,723,602
Retention Rate	71.90%	78.70%
Virginia	60,774	63,591
Retention Rate	74.15%	74.96%
Study Population	19,065	17,559
Retention Rate	59.91%	60.41%
Institution 1	9,059	9,130
Retention Rate	72.80%	72.60%
Institution 2	9,546	8,220
Retention Rate	53.20%	46.40%
Institution 3	460	249
Retention Rate	31.50%	76.30%

Comparison of First Year Students in the U.S., Virginia, and the Study Population

*Note:* Data gathered from Knapp et al. (2011, 2012), the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia (2014) and study data.

#### **Research Question One**

Research Question One asked, "What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first year student retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in the Hampton Roads region?"

For Fall 2009, a total of 19,065 students were analyzed. Of these, 59.91% were retained at their respective institutions. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, only one group had a higher retention rate than the 59.91% average: 18-22, 6,917 (61.64%). With regard to gender, females had the higher retention rate, 6,334 (60.13%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 59.91% average: Asian, 470 (66.38%), Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 100 (62.11%), and Other, 1,011 (70.40%). Students with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 1,182 (68.08%) versus students without the benefit, 10,240 (59.09%).

For Fall 2010, a total of 17,559 students were analyzed. Of these, 60.41% were retained at their respective institutions. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, two had a higher retention rate than the 59.91% average: 18-22, 6,767 (63.61%) and 38-42, 276 (61.61%). With regard to gender, females had the higher retention rate, 5,847 (60.98%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories

(African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 59.91% average: African-American, 3,129 (61.17%), Asian, 485 (66.38%), Hispanic, 563 (66.31), Native Americans, 73 (70.19%), and Other, 782 (71.03%). Students with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 972 (66.99%) versus students without the benefit, 9,660 (59.82%).

A binary logistic regression to further analyze these percentages yielded the significance at the 0.05 level for Fall 2009: Age and G.I. Bill. For Fall 2010, all categories were found to have statistical significance at the 0.05 level: Gender, Age, G.I. Bill usage, and Ethnicity. The null hypothesis,  $H_0 =$  There are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in the Hampton Roads region, was proven to be false.

**Discussion of Research Question One.** For Fall 2009, the retention rate for the three institutions was 59.91%, which is lower than the 66.6% retention rate for the country (Knapp et al., 2012). It is also lower than the 74.15% average for Virginia. For Fall 2010, the retention rate for the three institutions was 60.41%, which is lower than the 71.8% U.S. average (U.S. Department of Education, 2014) and 74.96% for the Commonwealth of Virginia.

Overall, the retention percentage for users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill is higher than the general population of students in this study. It is interesting to note that the 18-22 year old population also retained at higher rates. It is possible that Post-9/11 G.I. Bill dependents are pushing this rate higher as opposed to the veterans and servicemembers who are usually outside of the traditional student age range. Females and non-Caucasians were also retained at a higher rate. Further studies should examine these populations on a more in-depth level to determine whether data can show more detailed information regarding why students were successfully retained. For both Fall 2009 and 2010, age and G.I. Bill usage were found to have statistical significance, and gender and ethnicity was also found to be statistically significant. The congruency of age and G.I. Bill usage may have some correlation when examined to see other factors of retention through further quantitative and qualitative study.

#### **Research Question Two**

Research Question Two asked, "What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a public university in the Hampton Roads region?"

For Fall 2009, a total of 9,059 students were analyzed. Of these, 6,594 (72.8%) were retained at this institution. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, three groups had a higher retention rate than the 72.8% average: Under 18 (77.6%), 18-22 (74.0%), Over 48 (72.3%). With regard to gender, females had the higher retention rate (73.4%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 72.8% average: African-American, 1,622 (80.9%), Asian, 267 (77.2%), Hispanic, 362 (76.9%), Native American, 36 (85.7%), Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 46 (79.3%), and

Other, 490 (74.9%). Students with no Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 5,976 (73.1%) compared to 618 (70.2%).

For Fall 2010, a total of 9,130 students were analyzed. Of these, 6,626 (72.6%) were retained at this institution. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, three had a higher retention rate than the 72.6% average: Under 18, 70 (82.3%), 18-22, 4,299 (73.6%), and 23-27, 1,029 (74.1%). With regard to gender, males had the higher retention rate, 3,107 (72.7%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 72.6% average: African-American, 1,767 (79.9%), Asian, 293 (76.5%), Hispanic, 391 (77.4%), Native American, 41 (89.1%), Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 35 (74.5%), and Other, 713 (73.1%). Students without the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 6,083 (73.8%) versus those with the benefit, 543 (70.2%).

A binary logistic regression to further analyze these percentages yielded the significance at the 0.05 level for Fall 2009: Age and Ethnicity. For Fall 2010, the Age and Ethnicity categories were found to have statistical significance at the 0.05 level. The null hypothesis,  $H_01$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a public university in the Hampton Roads region, was proven to be false. Those who were closer to the traditional age of students and non-Caucasians were better retained.

**Discussion of Research Question Two.** For Fall 2009, the retention rate of 72.8% is lower than the U.S. average of 76.0% for four-year colleges and is lower than that same average for the Commonwealth of Virginia, which is at 80.4% (Knapp et al., 2011). For Fall 2010, the retention rate of 72.6% is lower than the U.S. average of 78.4% and the Commonwealth of Virginia average of 85.8% (Knapp et al., 2012).

For Fall 2009, students without the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained than those with the benefit; for Fall 2010, it was the same. However, the percentages are not that different: 73.1% - 70.2% (no benefit - Post-9/11 G.I. Bill) and 73.8% - 70.2% (Post-9/11 G.I. Bill – no benefit). Both age and ethnicity were found to have statistical significance for both Fall 2009 and Fall 2010. The age ranges that had higher retention rates were for the more traditionally-aged students, and for Fall 2009, for the oldest students. Non-Caucasians had higher retention rates.

#### **Research Question Three**

Research Question Three asked, "What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public community college in the Hampton Roads region?"

For Fall 2009, a total of 9,546 students were analyzed. Of these, 5,078 (53.2%) were retained. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, four groups had a higher retention rate than the 53.2% average: Under 18, 378 (53.8%), 18-22, 2,717 (53.2%), 43-47, 147 (57.2%), and Over 48, 179 (56.8%). With regard to gender, males had the higher retention rate, 2,246 (53.9%). Ethnicity was

broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 53.2% average: African-Americans, 1,790 (54.9%), and Native Americans, 42 (60.0%). Students with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 445 (62.6%) versus students without the benefit, 4,812 (54.4%).

For Fall 2010, a total of 8,220 students were analyzed. Of these, 3,816 (46.4%) were retained. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, three had a higher retention rate than the 46.4% average: 18-22, 2,392 (51.0%), 32-37, 225 (48.7%), and 38-42, 132 (50.0%). With regard to gender, females had the higher retention rate, 2,247 (48.6%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 46.4% average: Asian, 179 (58.3%), Hispanic, 158 (48%), Native American, 29 (53.1%), and Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islanders, 56 (51.9%). Students with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 355 (60.3%) versus students without the benefit, 3,461 (45.3%).

A binary logistic regression to further analyze these percentages yielded the significance at the 0.05 level for Fall 2009: Age and G.I. Bill. For Fall 2010, three categories were found to have statistical significance at the 0.05 level: Gender, Age, and G.I. Bill. The null hypothesis,  $H_02$  = There are no significant demographic predictors of

freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public community college in the Hampton Roads region, was proven to be false.

**Discussion of Research Question Three.** For Fall 2009, the retention rate of 53.2% is lower than the U.S. average of 51.4% for two-year public colleges and is lower than that same average for the Commonwealth of Virginia, which is at 55.7% (Knapp et al., 2011). For Fall 2010, the retention rate of 46.4 is lower than the U.S average of 53.0 and the Commonwealth of Virginia average of 55.3% (Knapp et al., 2012).

Students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained at this two year public community college at a much stronger percentage (62.6% to 54.4% for Fall 2009 and 60.3% to 45.3% for Fall 2010). This could be attributed to the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit, however further studies need to examine this more. It is important to note that the 60.3% retention rate is higher than the U.S. and Virginia averages for two-year public colleges. This may be due to the high military population in this area or the services provided to users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Students were better retained in the younger and older age categories.

#### **Research Question Four**

Research Question Four asked, "What demographic factors, if any, are significant predictors of first year student retention of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a for-profit college in the Hampton Roads region?"

For Fall 2009, a total of 460 students were analyzed. Of these, 145 (31.5%) were retained. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, six groups had

a higher retention rate than the 31.5% average: 23-27, 50 (48.5%), 28-31, 21 (36.8%), 32-37, 21 (47.9%), 38-42, 14 (56.0%), 43-47, 14 (53.8%), and Over 48, 7 (41.1%). With regard to gender, males had the higher retention rate, 75 (42.6%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 31.5% average: African-American, 42 (34.4%), Hispanic, 9 (42.9%), and Other, 98 (73.13%). Students with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 128 (88.2%) than those without the benefit, 17 (5.4%).

For Fall 2010, a total of 249 students were analyzed. Of these, 190 (76.3%) were retained. Examining the four demographic factors yielded the following preliminary findings. With regard to age, students were broken down into eight categories (Under 18, 18-22, 23-27, 28-31, 32-37, 38-42, 43-47, and Over 48). Of these groups, six had a higher retention rate than the 76.3% average: Under 18 (80.0%), 23-27 (79.6%), 32-37 (85.0%), 38-42 (80.0%), 43-47 (87.5%), and Over 48 (78.6%). With regard to gender, males had the higher retention rate (75.5%). Ethnicity was broken down into seven categories (African-American, Asian, Hispanic, Native American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, Other, and Caucasian). The following groups had retention rates higher than the 76.3% average: Asian, 13 (100%), Hispanic, 14 (93.3%), Other, 9 (81.1), and Caucasian, 91 (78.4%). Students with the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefit were better retained, 74 (83.1%) versus students without the benefit, 116 (72.5).

A binary logistic regression to further analyze these percentages yielded the significance at the 0.05 level for Fall 2009: Gender. For Fall 2010, no categories were found to have statistical significance at the 0.05 level. The null hypothesis,  $H_03$  = There

are no significant demographic predictors of freshman retention for Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries in a two-year public community college in the Hampton Roads region, was proven to be false.

**Discussion of Research Question Four.** For Fall 2009, the retention rate of 31.5% is lower than the U.S. average of 50.8% for two-year public colleges and is lower than that same average for the Commonwealth of Virginia, which is at 45.8% (Knapp et al., 2011). For Fall 2010, the retention rate of 76.3 is higher than the U.S. average of 46.8% and the average for Virginia of 42.6% (Knapp et al., 2012).

The fact that students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill for Fall 2009 were retained at an 88.2% rate compared to non-users at 5.4% is extremely significant especially considering that the retention rate for Institution Three is dramatically lower than for other institutions. The retention rate for Fall 2010 did level out much more evenly at 83.1% versus 72.5%. It would be important to look further into why there is such a disparity during Fall 2009. Considering this institution is a for-profit with many different terms that start throughout the year, it may be more beneficial to look at the retention rate of this institution on a yearly basis rather than the one semester examined in this study. The logistic regression was also telling: only age was found to be statistically significant for Fall 2009; for Fall 2010, there were no factors found to have statistical significance.

#### **Research Question Five**

Research Question Five asked, "What are the demographic factors of retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries?" A logistic regression and a Pearson Chi-Square analysis was run to determine whether age, race, and/or gender had any statistical significance for students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. In all three cases, there was no statistical significance found. The null hypothesis,  $H_04$  = There are no significant demographic factors of freshman retention for the general population of students compared to Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries, was proven to be true.

**Discussion of Research Question Five.** Comparing the general population of students to those using Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefits was a necessary part of this study. While no statistical significance was found in the age, race, and gender categories, it is still necessary to further examine why students are not retained for both the general population and the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill users at different levels. Qualitative inquiry could provide more information on the experiences of students and delve more deeply into why they may have not persisted in their education endeavors. A more quantitative route could also examine other factors outside of the three chosen for this study.

#### Implications

The purpose of this study was to examine the retention of users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill compared to the general population of students on three factors: age, ethnicity, and race. Retention rates are important, especially at the level of first year or first time students. It has been shown that students are more likely to drop out of higher education during their first year more than any other time (DeAngelo, 2013; Tinto, 1993). If states can implement policies that help to increase retention rates, students will be more likely to graduate. Moreover, student veterans are an at-risk population in the sense that they need attention to not only academic success but to personal well-being (Falkey, 2014). Veteran students often have transition experiences that differ from the traditional student as they are non-traditional students who are coming from rigid military expectations to a looser college environment (Rumann & Hamrick, 2010). They can choose their academic schedules and are not at school during traditional work hours (Bauman, 2009) and find themselves in a liberal environment as opposed to the more moderate or conservative military mindset (Hamilton & Hargens, 1993). Moreover, veterans tend to not ask for assistance and can view a call for help as a cry for help; they do not see themselves as victims (Lighthall, 2012). Many assume that veterans come to our colleges and university with myriad issues such as Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder or Traumatic Brain Injuries, when in fact only 20% of veterans suffer from these disorders (Vacchi, 2012). It is important to understand the varied needs of veterans and how college campuses can address these needs.

The institutions studied in this dissertation have higher-than-average veteran student populations. Many institutions, including the ones in this study, are still not where they need to be in the service of veteran students (DiRamio & Jarvis, 2011; Gomez, 2014; O'Herrin, 2011; Vacchi, 2012). There is much more that HEIs can do in service of veterans. Some examples of existing services include one-stop shops, veteran knowledgeable staff in different areas of the campus. Today, six years after the passage of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, many institutions still do not have a comprehensive understanding across the board for the needs of veteran students (Callahan & Jarrat, 2014; Gomez, 2014).

Veterans, as students, still tend to view themselves as part of a military culture and are able to identify other veterans and distinguish them from the general population of students (Falkey, 2014). They prefer to ask questions of other veterans rather than campus administrators. HEIs should have dedicated resources for the veteran population;
these resources must be proactive instead of reactive. Most of the institutional responses to this second large influx of veteran students have been reactive (G. A. Kirk, 2014; Persky & Oliver, 2010). Moreover, recognition needs to be much broader than a general acknowledgment of veterans because without the proper infrastructure in which to support veterans, they will not have a successful academic and social experience in college (Herrmann, Raybeck, & Wilson, 2008).

Training faculty and staff on veteran student needs is also essential (Burnett & Segoria, 2009; Rumann & Hamrick, 2009). It should not be left to Veteran Certifying Officials to be the sole point of contact for veteran students. Regular training sessions should be held for teaching faculty and administrative personnel so that when the need arises, veterans are properly advised and referred to the appropriate office on campus. One of the more well-known programs is the Green Zone (GZ). GZ is modeled following the Safe Zone program, which provides "safe" contacts and spaces for the LGBT community. In this same sense, veteran-friendly environments are put in place for veterans so that faculty and staff who have been appropriately trained to deal with veterans' issues are available to veterans as needs arise (Nichols-Casebolt, 2012). Additionally, the American Council on Education provides a Toolkit for Veteran Friendly Institutions, which provides HEIs with best practices designed for veterans (American Council on Education, n.d.).

Providing orientation sessions for users of the G.I. Bill is also necessary (American Council on Education, n.d.; Kelley, Smith, & Fox, 2013). In an orientation that is specifically geared toward this population, the veteran students can not only see other veterans, but have access to the faculty and staff who have the knowledge and experience working with their varied needs. This will also introduce the veterans to the services that are available to them. However, it is important to make these orientation sessions applicable and not seem a waste of time to veterans who may just want to get registered without the extra bells and whistles (Kelley et al., 2013).

### **Recommendations for Further Research**

It is important for institutions to realize that veterans are here to stay, at least for the foreseeable future. There are still military personnel serving overseas and nationally who are eligible for veterans' educational benefits. They will either use these benefits themselves or transfer them to their dependents.

Now in 2014, it is important to note that many changes have been put in place since the initial implementation of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. For one, in 2012, President Obama released Executive Order 13607, "Establishing Principles of Excellence for Educational Institution Serving Service Members, Veterans, Spouses, and Other Family Members". The purpose of this is to create more oversight, enforcement, and accountability for the Department of Veterans Affairs. These principles require HEIs to provide correct and meaningful information about the true cost of attaining a college education on their campus, as well as to prevent abusive and deceptive recruiting practices, while ensuring high-quality education and student support services (Raab, 2012). In addition, in 2013, President Obama introduced the "8 Keys to Veterans' Success", which allows colleges and universities to register their institutions as "militaryfriendly" with the Department of Education provided they commit to implementing programs that:

- 1. "Create a culture of trust and connectedness across the campus community to promote well-being and success for veterans.
- 2. Ensure consistent and sustained support from campus leadership.
- 3. Implement an early alert system to ensure all veterans receive academic, career, and financial advice before challenges become overwhelming.
- 4. Coordinate and centralize campus efforts for all veterans, together with the creation of a designated space (even if the space is limited in size).
- Collaborate with local communities and organizations, including government agencies, to align and coordinate various services for veterans.
- 6. Utilize a uniform set of data tools to collect and track information on veterans, including demographics, retention and degree completion.
- Provide comprehensive professional development for faculty and staff on issues and challenges unique to veterans.
- Develop systems that ensure sustainability of effective practices for veterans. (U.S. Department of Education, 2013, p. 1)

With Executive Order 13607 and the "8 Keys to Veterans' Success", it is clear that HEIs can no longer sweep information under the table. With the amount of federal dollars being expended on veteran education, HEIs have been made aware that the government is expecting results and information on students.

Most importantly related to this study from the "8 Keys to Veterans' Success" is number six, "Utilize a uniform set of data tools to collect and track information on veterans, including demographics, retention and degree completion". Data were not easy

to attain and the data were not consistent. There need to be informational databases where HEIs and the VA can provide tracking methods to future researchers so that common indicators can be found. Originally, it was the intent of this study to look at several other factors that could influence retention, such as full-time versus part-time attendance, major, state of residence, etc. Because these types of data were not collected at all three institutions, it was necessary to limit this study to the four factors: age, ethnicity, gender, and use of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Currently, the National Student Clearinghouse is the only source of veteran student data in the country; however the data provided are still limited (McCann, 2014). The Student Veterans of America organization released the first phase of the Million Records Project in March 2014. The attempt of this project is to provide data on student veterans to help HEIs and policymakers to make data-driven decisions to create more support for veterans pursuing higher education (Student Veterans of America, 2014). Additionally, the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia, in the past few months, has sent a request for HEIs in the Commonwealth of Virginia to submit greater detailed information on student veterans (K. Levingston, personal communication, December 3, 2014). An examination of the cohorts from 2009 and 2010 compared to current cohorts would also be beneficial to see whether retention rates have improved along with improvements with VA processing claims and institutionally-provided resources for veteran students.

Further studies could examine other factors that contribute to retention on both the quantitative and qualitative levels. Studies could examine what factors are affecting students in their late twenties and early thirties with regard to first-year to second-year retention. Non-Caucasians also had higher retention rates. Further studies could examine

why other factors led to the significance of age and ethnicity with regard to retention. Examining retention rates by ethnicity within the users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill may also provide an indication of "at risk" populations of these students.

Female veterans are an important, yet overlooked, population (Baechthold, 2009; Burton, 2014). An examination as to the factors of retention that directly correlate with women veterans can significantly add to the literature. Further quantitative and qualitative studies on veteran students are necessary to help educators understand the needs of veterans.

This study only examined students who were enrolled in Fall 2009 and Fall 2010 at three institutions in Southeastern Virginia. While these years are pivotal because they are in the first years of the deployment of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, it is important to have more data on first year students around the country and in different years. Longitudinal studies are also important to this population. The literature review revealed a sparseness of information on many of the different iterations of the G.I. Bill as well as on student success of veterans.

Further studies can examine students at different stages in their academic careers. While the first year of college does have a significant impact on student retention, it is also important to examine how students who are retained in the first year persist to graduation. These two cohorts of students are nearing their graduations. It would be beneficial to further this study to see whether those students did in fact graduate. This should also be examined further as the retention rate for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill users was so different from non-users for Fall 2009. For Institution Three during Fall 2010, there were no factors found to have statistical significance. This should also be examined further as the retention rate for the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill users was so different from non-users for Fall 2009.

Military and transfer credit was reported in two institutions, so it was not included in the analysis; however performing an analysis on the amount of military and transfer credit is brought in prior to starting at an institution could also have an effect on student retention. Veterans, generally, come into an institution with several military training courses that have been evaluated by the American Council on Education. Many also come in after having attended several institutions prior to attending the one in the study. It would be good to see whether students who have significant amounts of military and/or transfer credit are better retained than those just beginning their education.

As stated earlier, this study limited to Southeastern Virginia. It is the hope that the information presented in this dissertation can be generalized throughout the Commonwealth of Virginia and to the United States as a whole. However, there need to be more studies like this one that perform analyses on student success and retention. A study that examined, for example, a state-to-state, a multi-state, or a U.S.-wide comparison would also be beneficial to the veteran population who are seeking higher education.

### **Concluding Remarks**

Institutions of higher education are at a turning point with regard to the influx of veteran students. Many have scrambled since the inception of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill to provide the services needed for veterans coming to campus in larger numbers than in the

last 40 years. Institutions must also understand that veterans come with myriad and different needs than other populations that attend college.

This study examined veteran student retention and compared it to the general population of students on three factors: age, ethnicity, and gender. However, there are many other aspects that can be studied because having a multidimensional approach is necessary to assist veterans and maximize their potential as students. The findings in this study, while limited to certain demographic attributes, are important because they highlight a need to further understand retention and persistence of students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill. Students using the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill are students of all ages, ethnicities, and genders. They come with varied and individual needs to institutions of higher education. This study is important because it exemplifies Post-9/11 G.I. Bill usage at its best. While we can still see that the veteran population needs special attention, the Hampton Roads region of SoutheasternVirginia is the best place to do this because of the military and veteran populations that reside in this area. This is a region in the United States where HEIs are more likely to have exposure to students using Post-9/11 G.I. Bill benefits. While this study does not explain why students are not retained but rather examines the fact that students are not being retained quantitatively, it brings to light the fact that more studies need to examine on a more in-depth level what institutions can do to better understand these differing needs of users of the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill.

#### REFERENCES

7 U.S.C. § 391. (1862). Morrill Land-Grant Act.

- Abrego, M., Morgan, B. M., & Abrego, C. (2009). Creating win-win partnerships and adding revelance to educator preparation. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research*, 2(2), 51-57.
- Ackerman, R., & DiRamio, D. (2009). Editor's notes. In R. Ackerman & D. DiRamio (Eds.), *Creating a veteran-friendly campus: Strategies for transition and* (pp. 1-3). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Adams, J. A. (2000). *The G.I. Bill and the changing place of U.S. higher education after World War II.* Paper presented at the Association for the Study of Higher Education Annual Meeting, Sacramento, CA.
- American Council on Education. (2008). ACE Issue Brief. Retrieved June 20, 2010, from <u>http://www.acenet.edu/Content/NavigationMenu/ProgramsServices/</u>
- American Council on Education. (n.d.). Toolkit for veteran friendly institutions. from <u>http://www.acenet.edu/news-room/Pages/Toolkit-for-Veteran-Friendly-</u> <u>Institutions.aspx</u>
- Angrist, J. (1993). The effect of veterans benefits on education and earnings. *Industrial* and Labor Relations Review, 46(4), 637-652.
- Archibald, R. B., & Feldman, D. H. (2011). Why does college cost so much? New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Sorensen, C., & Razavieh, A. (2010). Introduction to research in education. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth, Cengage Learning.

- Asch, B. J., Fair, C. C., & Kilburn, M. R. (2000). An assessment of recent proposals to improve the Montgomery G.I. Bill. Santa Monica, CA: RAND.
- Astin, A. W. (1993). *What matters in college: Four critical years revisited*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Astin, A. W. (1999). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. Journal of College Student Involvement, 40(5), 518-529.
- Baechthold, M. (2009). Women warriors: Supporting female student veterans. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, *37*(3), 69-80.
- Baker, C. (2008). Voluntary education briefing. Paper presented at the Annual meeting of the Florida Advisory Council on Military Education, Jacksonville, FL. www.voled.doded.mil/voled\_Web/library/slides/voled\_overview.pdf
- Barefoot, B. O. (2004). Higher education's revolving door: Confronting the problem of student dropout in US colleges and universities. *Open Learning*, *19*(1), 9-18.
- Bauer, T. K., Bender, S., Paloyo, A. R., & Schmitd, C. M. (2010). The impact of compulsory military service on educational attainment. Chicago, IL: National Opinion Research Center.
- Bauman, M. C. (2009). *Called to serve: The military mobilization of undergraduates*.
  (Doctor of Philosophy Doctoral dissertation), The Pennsylvania State University.
  Dissertations & Theses: Full Text (Publication No. AAT 3380873) database.
- Bean, J. P. (1980). Dropouts and turnover: The synthesis and test of a causal model of student attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, 12(2), 155-187.
- Bennett, M. J. (1996). *The G.I. Bill and the making of modern America*. Washington,D.C.: Brasseys, Inc.

- Boshier, R. (1973). Educational participation and dropout: A theoretical model. *Adult Education, 23*, 255-282.
- Bound, J., & Turner, S. (2002). Going to war and going to college: Did World War II and the GI Bill increase educational attainment for returning veterans? *Journal of Labor Economics*, 20(4), 784-815.
- Bowen, W., Chingos, M., & McPherson, M. (2009). *Crossing the finish line: Completing college at America's universities*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Brauser, D. (2011). Combat PTSD, not mild TBI, linked to poor outcomes. *Medscape Medical News*. Retrieved April 8, 2011, from <a href="http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/735512">http://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/735512</a>
- Breakwell, G. M., Hammond, S., Fife-Schaw, C., & Smith, J. (Eds.). (2006). *Research methods in psychology* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Budden, M. C., Hsing, Y., Budden, C. B., & Hall, M. (2010). *Heads or tails (success or failure)? Using Logit Modeling to predict student retention and progression.*Paper presented at the 2010 IABR & ITLC Conference Proceedings, Orlando, FL.
- Burnett, S. E., & Segoria, J. (2009). Collaboration for military transition students from combat to college: It takes a community. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 22(1), 53-58.
- Burton, C. (2014). Current perspectives on the intersectionality of military women. In S.
  M. B. Givens & K. E. Tassie (Eds.), *Underserved women of color, voice, and resistance: Claiming a seat at the table* (pp. 43-57). Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books.

Cahn, D. (2014, November 18). Hampton Roads good for veterans to earn degree, *The Virginian-Pilot*. Retrieved from <u>http://hamptonroads.com/2014/11/hampton-</u> <u>roads-good-veterans-earn-</u>

degree?utm\_source=twitterfeed&utm\_medium=twitter#

Callahan, R., & Jarrat, D. (2014). Helping student servicemembers and veterans succeed. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, *46*(2), 36-41.

Card, J. (1983). Lives after Vietnam. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.

Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. (2013a). Carnegie classification. from

http://classifications.carnegiefoundation.org/lookup\_listings/view\_institution.php ?unit\_id=232982&start\_page=standard.php&clq=%7B%22basic2005\_ids%22%3 A%2216%22%7D

Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. (2013b). Carnegie classification.

from

http://classifications.carnegiefoundation.org/lookup\_listings/view\_institution.php ?unit\_id=233772&start\_page=index.php&clq=%7B

Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. (2013c). Carnegie classification. from

http://classifications.carnegiefoundation.org/lookup\_listings/view\_institution.php ?limit=0%2C50&clq=&start\_page=institution.php&backurl=institution.php&unit \_id=248934

Cave, M. (2006). The use of performance indicators in higher education. Philadelphia,

PA: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

- Chen, S., & Thomas, H. (2001). Constructing vocational and technical college student persistence models. *Journal of Vocational Education Research*, *26*(1).
- Church, T. E. (2009). Returning veterans on campus with war related injuries and the long road back home. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 22(1), 43-52.
- Clark, D. A. (1998). "The two Joes meet: Joe College, Joe Veteran": The G.I. Bill, college education, and postwar American culture. *History of Education Quarterly*, 38(2), 165-189.
- Clark, E. L. (1947). The veteran as a college freshman. *School and Society*, 66(1707), 205-207.
- Clarke, J. H. (1980). Adults in the college setting: Deciding to develop skills. *Adult Education*, 30(2), 92-100.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research methods in education* (6th ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Cook, B. J., & Kim, Y. (2009). From soldier to student: Easing the transition of service members on campus. Washington, D.C.: American Council on Education and the Lumina Foundation for Education.
- Cooper, D. R., & Schindler, P. S. (2001). *Business research methods* (7th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Cousins, S. (2002). *Improving colleges through action research*. London: Learning and Skills Development Agency.
- Davidhizar, R., & Shearer, R. (2005). When your nursing student is culturally diverse. *Health Care Manager*, 24, 356-363.

- DeAngelo, L. (2013). Programs and practices that retain students from the first to second year: Results from a national study. *New Directions for Institutional Reserach*, 2013(160), 53-75.
- DiRamio, D., Ackerman, R., & Mitchell, R. L. (2008). From combat to campus: Voices of student-veterans. *NASPA Journal*, *45*(1), 73-102.
- DiRamio, D., & Jarvis, K. (2011). Veterans in higher education: When Johnny and Jane come marching to campus. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, *37*(3).
- Donaldson, J. F., & Graham, S. (1999). A model of college outcomes for adults. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 50(1), 24-40.
- Dunne, P. W. (2009). Claims processing letter. Retrieved June 9, 2010, from http://www.gibill.va.gov/documents/Post-911\_Claims\_Processing\_Letter.pdf
- Durkheim, E. (1961). *Suicide* (J. Spaulding & G. Simpson, Trans.). Glencoe: The Free Press.
- Elbogen, E. B., Wagner, H. R., Fuller, S. R., Calhoun, P. S., Kinneer, P. M., & Beckham, J. C. (2010). Correlates of anger and hostility in Iraq and Afghanistan war veterans. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 167, 1051-1058.
- Elliott, T. R., & Leung, P. (2004). Vocational rehabilitation: History and Practice. In W.B. Walsh & M. L. Savickas (Eds.), *Handbook of vocational psychology* (3rd ed.).Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Fain, P. (2013, January 8). Do veterans graduate?, *Inside Higher Ed*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.insidehighered.com/news/2013/01/08/new-effort-collect-student-veterans-graduation-rates">http://www.insidehighered.com/news/2013/01/08/new-effort-collect-student-veterans-graduation-rates</a>

- Falkey, M. E. (2014). An exploratory study of the transition experiences of Post-9/11 GI
  Bill era student/veterans from active duty military service to college student.
  (Doctor of Arts Dissertation), George Mason University. (3625139)
- Fincher, M. (2010). Adult student retention: A practical approach to retention improvement through learning enhancement. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 58, 12-18.
- Firestone, N. (2008). Anyone can defend a veteran's well-being at home. Retrieved April 12, 2011, from <u>http://hamptonroads.com/2008/08/anyone-can-defend-veterans-wellbeing-home</u>
- Frederiksen, N., & Schrader, W. B. (1950). Adjustment to college: A study of 10,000 veteran and nonveteran students in sixteen American colleges. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.
- Germanna Community College President's Blog. (2009). Germanna sees nearly 40% increase in students using VA benefits this fall. Retrieved June 10, 2010, from <u>http://germannapresident.blogspot.com/2009/09/germanna-sees-nearly-40-</u> increase-in.html
- Glasson, W. H. (1900). *History of military pension legislation in the United States*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Gomez, C. (2014). Outreach to veterans, military students needs improvement, our survey reveals. *Student Affairs Today, 16*(12), 1, 4-6.
- Grasgreen, A. (2013, January 10). If you build it, will they come? Retrieved from <a href="http://www.insidehighered.com/news/2013/01/10/new-veteran-support-centers-struggle-gain-students-trust">http://www.insidehighered.com/news/2013/01/10/new-veteran-support-centers-struggle-gain-students-trust</a>

- Hadley, L. S. (1945). Scholastic adjustment problems of the returning veterans. *Educational Research Bulletin*, 24(4), 87-92, 112.
- Hadley, S., & Trechter, D. (2010). UWRF Veterans Survey Report. River Falls, WI: University of Wisconsin River Falls Survey Research Center.
- Hagedorn, L. S. (2005). How to define retention: A new look at an old problem. In A.Seidman (Ed.), *College student retention: Formula for success* (pp. 89-106).Westport, CT: ACE/Praeger.
- Hamilton, R. F., & Hargens, L. I. (1993). The politics of the professors: Selfidentifications. *Social Forces*, *71*(3), 603-627.
- Harbrecht, A., Neidermeyer, P. E., & Tuten, T. L. (2006). Changes in higher education:How to address the learning needs of the Latino population. *Journal of College Teaching and Learning*, *3*(10), 63-69.
- Haydock, M. D. (1996). The G.I. Bill. American History, 31(4), 52-58.
- Hendin, H., & Haas, A. P. (1991). Suicide and guilt as manifestations of PTSD in Vietnam combat veterans. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 148, 586-591.
- Herrmann, D., Raybeck, D., & Wilson, R. (2008). College is for veterans too. *NASPA Journal*, 45(1), 73-94.
- Holcombe, R. G. (1999). Veterans interests and the transition to government growth: 1870-1915. *Public Choice*, *99*, 311-326.
- Horan, M. (1990a). Stepchildren of Archaoes: An ethnography of a support group for Vietnam veterans at the Florida State University.

Horan, M. (1990b). The Vietnam era G.I. Bill in perspective, parts one to four.

- Hosmer, D. W., & Lemeshow, S. (2000). *Applied logistic regression* (2nd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Humes, E. (2006). *Over here: How the G.I. Bill transformed the American Dream*. Orlando, FL: Harcourt Books.
- Hur, Y., & Kim, S. (2007). Different outcomes of active and reflective learners in problem-based learning. *Medical Teacher*, 29(1), 18-21.
- Immerwahr, J., Johnson, J., Ott, A., & Rochkind, J. (2010). Squeeze play 2010:Continued public anxiety on cost, harsher judgments on how colleges are run.New York, NY & San Jose, CA: Public Agenda and The National Center forPublic Policy and Higher Education.
- Iraq Coalition Casulty Count. (2009). Iraq coalition casualities: US wounded totals. Retrieved April 8, 2011, from

http://icasualties.org/Iraq/USCasualtiesByState.aspx

- Jacobs, F., & Hundley, S. P. (2010). Understanding and supporting adult learners: A guide for colleges and universities. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Joanning, H. (1975). The academic performance of Vietnam Veteran college students. *The Journal of College Student Personnel*, *16*(1), 10-13.
- Johnson, D. H., Wallace, K. W., & Sedlacek, W. E. (1979). A comparison of the needs of returning and traditional students by sex. *Journal of the National Association for Women Deans, Administrators, and Counselors, 42*(3), 388-394.
- Johnstone, D., & Maloney, P. (1998). Enhancing the productivity of learning: Curricular implications. In J. E. Groccia & J. E. Miller (Eds.), *New Directions for Higher Education* (Vol. 103, pp. 23-34).

- Juul, P. M. (2009). The history of Veterans Affairs. In L. J. Korb, S.E. Duggan., P.M. Juul, & M.A. Bergmann (Ed.), *Serving America's veterans: A reference handbook* (pp. 15-49). Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO.
- Kay, J. (2010). The rising prominence of college and university mental health issues. In J.Kay & V. Schwartz (Eds.), *Mental health care in the college community*.Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Kearney, L. K., Draper, M., & Barón, A. (2005). Counseling utilization by ethnic minority college students. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 11(3), 272-285.
- Kelley, B. C., Smith, J. M., & Fox, E. L. (2013). Preparing your campus for veterans' success. Sterling, VA: Stylus.
- Kember, D. (2010). Opening up the road to nowhere: Problems with path to mass higher education in Hong Kong. *Higher Education*, *59*(2), 167-179.
- Kim, Y. M., & Cole, J. S. (2013). Student veterans/service members' engagement in college and university life and education. Washington, D.C.: The American Council on Education and the Center for Policy Research and Strategy.
- Kinzer, J. R. (1946). The veteran and academic adjustment. *Educational Research Bulletin*, 25(1), 8-12.
- Kirby, D., & Sharpe, D. (2001). Student attrition from Newfoundland and Labrador's public college. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 47(4), 353-368.
- Kirk, G. A. (2014). Cammies to college: Organizational sensemaking of student veterans on "veteran friendly" college campuses. (Master of Arts), California State University, Chico, Chico, CA.

- Kirk, R. E. (2008). Statistics: An introduction (2 ed.). Belmont, CA: Thomson Wadsworth.
- Kleinbaum, D. G., & Klein, M. (2002). *Logistic regression: A self-learning text* (2nd ed.). New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Kleykamp, M. (2010). Where did the soldiers go? The effects of military downsizing on college enrollment and employment. *Social Science Research*, *39*(3), 477-490.
- Knapp, L. G., Kelly-Reid, J. E., & Ginder, S. A. (2011). Enrollment in postsecondary instutions, fall 2009; graduation rates, 2003 & 2006 cohorts; and financial statistics, fiscal year 2009 (NCES 2011-230). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Knapp, L. G., Kelly-Reid, J. E., & Ginder, S. A. (2012). Enrollment in postsecondary institutions, fall 2010; financial statistics, fiscal year 2010; and graduation rates, selected cohorts, 2002-07 (NCES 2012-280). Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statitics.
- Korb, L. J., Duggan, S. E., Juul, P. M., & Bergmann, M. A. (2009). Serving America's veterans. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO.
- LaBarre, A. A. (1969). On death and dying. New York, NY: MacMillan.
- Lay, R. (2009). Applying the Combinatorial Retention Auction Mechanism (CRAM) to a cost-benefit analysis of the Post 9/11 Era GI Bill transferability benefit. (M.S. Master's thesis), Naval Postgraduate School, Monterey, CA.
- Lighthall, A. (2012). Ten things you should know about today's student veteran. *The NEA Higher Education Journal*, 80-90.

- Livingston, W. G., Havice, P. A., Cawthon, T. W., & Fleming, D. S. (2011). Coming home: Student veterans' articulation of college re-enrollment. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 48(3), 315-311.
- Lopatto, D. (2006). Undergraduate research experiences: undergraduate research as a catalyst for liberal learning. *Peer Rev, 1*, 1-7.
- Lord, H. G. (1973). Ex post facto studies as a research method *Special report no. 7320*. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Education for the Handicapped.
- Love, L. L., & Hutchinson, C. A. (1946). Academic progress of veterans. *Educational Research Bulletin*, 25(8), 223-226.
- Lu, L. (1994). University transition: Major and minor stressors, personality characteristics, and mental health. *Psychological Medicine*, *24*, 81-87.
- Mallinckrodt, B., & Sedlacek, W. E. (1987). Student retention and the use of campus facilities by race. *NASPA Journal*, *24*, 28-32.
- Mangano, J. A., & Corrado, T. J. (1980). Re-entry adult students: Needs and implications. *NASPA Forum*, *1*(1), 5-7.
- Marklein, M. B. (2007, December 27). "GI Bill" is actually web of programs, USA *Today*, pp. 1D-2D.
- Martinez, P. (1995). Student retention in further and adult education: The evidence (Mendip Paper). London: Further Education Development Agency.
- Martinez, P. (1996). Student retention: Case studies of strategies that work. London: Further Education Development Agency.
- Martinez, P. (2000). Raising achievement: A guide to successful strategies. London: Further Education Development Agency.

- Martinez, P. (2001). College improvement: The voice of teachers and managers. London: Learning and Skills Development Agency.
- Maslow, A. H. (1967). A theory of metamotivation: The biological rooting of the valuelife. *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, *7*, 143-153.
- McAleavy, G., Collins, K., & Adamson, G. (2004). Adult learning in Northern Ireland: Investigating Further Education policies for widening participation. *Research in Post-Compulsory Education*, 91(1), 83-104.
- McBain, L. (2008). When Johnny [or Janelle] comes marching home National, state and institutional efforts in support of veteran's education. Washington, D.C.:
   American Association of State Colleges and Universities.
- McBain, L. (2009). Implementing the Post-9/11 GI Bill: Lessons learned and emerging issues. Washington, D.C.: American Association of State Colleges and Universities.
- McBain, L., Kim, Y. M., Cook, B. J., & Snead, K. M. (2012). From soldier to student II: Assessing campus programs for veterans and service members. Washington,
  D.C.: American Council on Education; American Association of State Colleges and Universities; NASPA: Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education; National Association of Veteran's Program Administrators.
- McCann, C. (2014). Million Records Project explores student veterans' outcomes. from <a href="http://www.edcentral.org/million-records-project-explores-student-veterans-outcomes/">http://www.edcentral.org/million-records-project-explores-student-veterans-outcomes/</a>

- McGrath, M., & Braunstein, A. (1997). The prediction of freshmen attrition: An examination of the importance of certain demographic, academic, financial, and social factors. *College Student Journal*, *31*(3), 396-408.
- McPherson, M., & Schulenberger, D. (2010). Expanding undergraduate education to meet national goals: The role of research universities. Washington, D.C.:
  Association of Public and Land-grant Universities.
- Mercer, C., & Skinner, R. P. (2008). Montgomery GI BIll education benefits: Analysis of college prices and federal student aid under the Higher Education Act. In P. H.
  Berkhart (Ed.), *No Child Left Behind: Issues and Developments*. New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers.
- Mettler, S. (2005a). The creation of the G.I. Bill of Rights of 1944: Melding social and participatory citizenship ideals. *Journal of Policy History*, *17*(4), 345-374.
- Mettler, S. (2005b). Soldiers to citizens: The G.I. Bill and the making of the Greatest Generation. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Morris, J. (2002). Academic integration, social integration, goal and institutional committment, and spiritual integration as predictors of persistence at a christian institution of higher education. (Doctor of Education Dissertation), Texas Tech University, Lubbock, TX. (AAT 3043234)
- Mosch, T. R. (1971). Updated veterans' educational benefits. *The Phi Delta Kappan*, 52(5), 280-282.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2013a). IPEDS college data 2011-2012. from http://nces.ed.gov/globallocator/col\_info\_popup.asp?ID=232982

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2013b). IPEDS college data 2011-2012. from http://nces.ed.gov/globallocator/col\_info\_popup.asp?ID=233772
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2013c). IPEDS college data 2011-2012. from http://nces.ed.gov/collegenavigator/?q=ecpi+university&s=all&id=248934
- National Science Foundation. (2009). Veterans' education for engineering and science:
  Report of the National Science Foundation Workshop on enhancing the Post 9/11
  Veterans Educational Benefit April 2009. Washington, D.C.: National Science
  Foundation.
- Nichols-Casebolt, A. (2012). The Green Zone: A program to support military students on campus. *About Campus, March-April*, 26-29.
- O'Herrin, E. (2011). Enhancing veteran success in higher education. *Peer Review*, 13(1).
- Olsen, A., & O'Leary, S. (2011). Military veterans and social security: 2010 update. Social Security Bulletin, 71(2).
- Olson, K. W. (1973). The G.I. Bill and higher education: Success and surprise. *American Quarterly*, 25(5), 596-610.
- P.L. 101-542. (1990). Student Right-to-Know and Campus Security Act.
- P.L. 112-249. (2012). Comprehensive Veterans Education Information Policy.
- Parrish, K. (2012, February 9). DOD opens more jobs, assignments to military women, American Forces Press Service.
- Pascarella, E. T. (1980). Student-faculty informal contact and college outcomes. *Review* of Educational Research, 50, 545-595.

- Pascarella, E. T., Duby, P. B., & Iverson, B. K. (1983). A test and reconceptualization of a theoretical model of college withdrawal in a commuter institution setting. *Sociology of Education*, 56, 88-100.
- Pascarella, E. T., Pierson, C. T., Wolniak, G. C., & Terenzini, P. T. (2004). First generation college students: Additional evidence on college experiences and outcomes. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 75(3), 249-284.
- Patterson, J. T. (1996). Grand expectations: The United States 1945-1974. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Persky, K. R., & Oliver, D. E. (2010). Veterans coming home to the community college: Linking research to practice. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 35(1-2), 111-120. doi: 10.1080/10668926.2011.525184
- Pleskac, T. J., Jeeney, J., Merritt, S. M., & Oswald, F. L. (2011). A detection model of college withdrawal. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 115(1), 85-98. doi: 10.1016/j.objdp.2010.12.001
- Poché, C. C. (2004). Whose money is it: Does the forfeiture of Voluntary Education Benefit contributions raise Fifth Amendment concerns? *Army Lawyer*, *Mar2004*(370), 1-24.
- Pollard, E., Bates, P., Hunt, W., & Bellis, A. (2008). University is not just for young people: Working adults' perceptions of and orientation to higher education: Institute for Employment Studies DIUS Research Report 08 06, DIUS.
- Preston, R. C., & Botel, M. (1952). The relation of reading skill and other factors to the academic achievement of 2048 college students. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 20(4), 363-371.

- Proffitt, J. R. (1979). The Federal connection for accreditation. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 50(2), 145-157.
- Pryor, J. H., Hurtado, S., DeAngelo, L., Blake, L. P., & Tran, S. (2009). *The American freshman: National norms fall 2009*. Los Angeles: Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA.
- Raab, F. D. (2012). For-profit colleges and the GI Bill: A worthwhile investment?Carlisle, PA: United States Army War College.
- Radford, A. W. (2009). Military service members and veterans in higher education: What the new G.I. Bill may mean for postsecondary institutions. Washington, D.C.:
  American Council on Education Center for Policy Analysis and Center for Lifelong Learning.
- Radford, A. W., Berkner, L., Wheeless, S. C., & Shepherd, B. (2010). National Center for Education Statistics, 2003-04 Beginning Postsecondary Students Longitudinal Study, second follow-up Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Education.
- Radford, A. W., & Wun, J. (2009). Issue tables: A profile of military service members and veterans enrolled in postsecondary education in 2007-08. Washington, D.C.: Institute of Educational Sciences.
- Rash, A. S., Skinner, A. J., Cline, D. M., & Blanch, K. D. (2008). Non traditional students: "Needs and Challenges". Retrieved June 2, 2010, from <u>http://digitalcommons.wku.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1005&context=cns</u>
- Reynolds, C. V. (2013, March 8). From combat to campus: New GI Bill helps many veterans earn education, but many face challenges at college, *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, pp. 21-26.

- Richardson, J. T. E. (1994). Mature students in higher education: Academic performance and intellectual ability. *Higher Education*, 28(3), 373-386.
- Richardson, J. T. E., & King, E. (1998). Adult students in higher education: Burden or boon? *The Journal of Higher Education*, 69(1), 65-88.
- Rivas, R. M., Sauer, P. L., Glynn, J. G., & Miller, T. E. (2007). Persist/dropout differences in pre-matriculation attitudes of freshmen towards college attrition: A longitudinal multiple group structural equations model. *College Teaching Methods and Styles Journal*, 2(3), 55-68.
- Roach, R. (2008). College officials urged to monitor the graduation rate gap. *Diverse: Issues in Higher Education*, 25(11), 16-17.
- Roosevelt, F. D. (1943). Message to the Congress on the Return of Service Personnel to Civilian Live. Retrieved June 22, 2010, from

http://docs.fdrlibrary.marist.edu/ODGICCL.HTML

- Rumann, C. B. (2009). Student veterans returning to a community college: Understanding their transition. (Doctor of Philosophy), University of Iowa.
   Dissertations & Theses: Full Text. (Publication No. AAT 3403830) database.
- Rumann, C. B., & Hamrick, F. A. (2009). Supporting student veterans in transition. *New Directions for Student Services*, *108*(1), 85-116.
- Rumann, C. B., & Hamrick, F. A. (2010). Student veterans in transition: Re-enrolling after war zone deployments. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 81(4), 431-458.
- Ryland, E. B., Riordan, R. J., & Brack, G. (1994). Selected characteristics of high-risk students and their enrollment persistence. *Journal of College Student Development*, 35(1), 54-58.

- Saad, L. (2014). Most veterans are satisfied with GI Bill education benefits. from <u>http://www.gallup.com/poll/172082/veterans-satisfied-bill-education-</u> <u>benefits.aspx</u>
- Santiago, P. N., Wilk, J. E., Milliken, C. S., Castro, C. A., Engel, C. C., & Hoge, C. W. (2010). Screening for alcohol misuse and alcohol-related behaviors among combat veterans. *Psychiatric Services*, *61*, 575-581.
- Schenker, J. D., & Rumrill, P. D. (2004). Causal-comparative research designs. *Journal* of Vocational Rehabilitation, 21, 117-121.
- Scott, G. A. (2011). *Post-9/11 GI Bill program benefits*. (GAO-11-356R). Washington, DC: GAO.
- Sewell, W. H., & Hauser, R. M. (1972). Causes and consequences of higher education: Models of the status attainment process. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 54(6), 851-861.
- Skocpol, T. (1993). America's first social security system: The expansion of benefits for Civil War veterans. *Political Science Quarterly*, 108(1), 85-116.
- Smith-Osborne, A. (2009). Does the GI Bill support educational attainment for veterans with disabilities? Implications for current veterans in resuming civilian life. *Journal of Sociology & Social Welfare, 36*, 111-125.
- Smole, D. P., & Loane, S. S. (2008). A brief history of veterans' education benefits and their value.: CRS Report for Congress, R.L. 34549.
- Spady, W. (1970). Dropouts from higher education: An interdisciplinary review and synthesis. *Interchange*, *1*, 64-85.

- Spady, W. (1971). Dropouts from higher education: Toward an empirical model. *Interchange*, *2*, 38-62.
- Stanley, M. (2000). College education and the mid-century G.I. Bills. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

State Council of Higher Education for Virginia. (2014). from <u>http://research.schev.edu/apps/info/Reports.Guide-to-the-Retention-and-</u> <u>Graduation-Reports.ashx</u>

- Steele, J. L., Salcedo, N., & Coley, J. (2010). Servicemembers in school: Military veterans' experiences using the Post-9/11 GI Bill and pursuing postsecondary education. Washington, D.C.: RAND Corporation/Lumina Foundation/American Council on Education.
- Stringer, E. (2007). No soldier left behind: Veterans seek college education. *Assocation* of College Unions International, 75(5), 24-31.
- Stripling, J. (2010). Take two for the GI Bill. Retrieved April 12, 2011, from <a href="http://www.insidehighered.com/news/2010/01/27/vets">http://www.insidehighered.com/news/2010/01/27/vets</a>
- Student Veterans of America. (2014). Million Records Project. from http://www.studentveterans.org/what-we-do/million-records-project.html
- Sukhia, M. A., Mehrotra, P. V., & Mehrotra, R. N. (1966). *Elements of educational research* (3rd ed.). New Delhi: Allied Publishers.
- Teachman, J. (2005). Military service in the Vietnam era and educational attainment. *Sociology of Education*, 78(1), 50-68.
- The College Board. (2009). Trends in college pricing. Retrieved June 20, 2010, from http://www.trends.collegeboard.org/downloads/archives/CP\_2009.pdf

- Thelin, J. R. (2004). *A history of American higher education*. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Thelin, J. R. (2010). The attrition tradition in American higher education: Connecting past and present. Washington, D.C.: Future of American Education Project.
- Thirtle, M. R. (2001). Educational benefits and officer-commissioning opportunities available to U.S. military servicemembers. Washington, D.C.: National Defense Research Institute.
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropouts from higher education: A theoretical analysis of recent research. *Review of Higher Education Research*, *45*, 89-125.
- Tinto, V. (1987). Leaving college: Rethinking the courses and cures of student attrition (1st ed.). Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (1988). Stages of student departure: Reflections on the longitudinal character of student leaving. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *59*(4), 438-455.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (1998). Colleges as communities: Taking research on student persistence seriously. *The Review of Higher Education*, *21*(2), 167-177.
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2012). Veterans. from

http://www.census.gov/how/infographics/veterans.html

- U.S. Coast Guard. (2010). Coast Guard 2010 snapshot. Retrieved April 8, 2011, from http://www.uscg.mil/top/about/doc/uscg\_snapshot.pdf
- U.S. Department of Defense. (2010). Military personnel statistics. from

http://siadapp.dmdc.osd.mil/personnel/MILITARY/miltop.htm

- U.S. Department of Education. (2002). *Digest of Education Statistics*. Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2013). President Obama applauds community colleges' and universities' efforts to implement 8 keys to veterans' success. from <u>http://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/president-obama-applauds-community-</u> colleges-and-universities-efforts-implement-8
- U.S. Department of Education. (2014). Institutional retention and graduation rates for undergraduate students. from <u>http://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_cva.asp</u>
- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2011a). Benefit comparaison chart. Retrieved April 8, 2011, from

http://www.gibill.va.gov/gi\_bill\_info/ch33/benefit\_comparison\_chart.htm

- U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. (2011b). Spring 2010 GI Bill benefit processing. from <u>http://www.gibill.va.gov/spring2010.htm</u>
- U.S. Government Accountability Office. (2011). Postsecondary education: Student outcomes vary at for-profit, nonprofit, and public schools. (GAO-12-143).
   Washington, D.C.: US Government Accountability Office.
- United States Census Bureau. (2010). A new portrait of America, first 2010 Census results. Retrieved April 12, 2011, from <u>http://2010.census.gov/news/press-kits/apportionment/apport.html</u>
- Vacchi, D. T. (2012). Considering student veterans on the twenty-first-century college campus. *About Campus*, *17*(2), 15-21.
- Van Gennep, A. (1960). *The Rites of Passage* (M. Vizedon, & G. Caffee, Trans.). Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.

- Veterans Administration. (2007). VA history in brief. Retrieved July 21, 2010, from http://www1.va.gov/opa/publications/archives/docs/history\_in\_brief.pdf
- Veterans Today. (2010). VA announces expansion of VetSuccess on Campus pilots. Retrieved April 12, 2011, from <u>http://www.veteranstoday.com/2010/10/06/va-announces-expansion-of-vetsuccess-on-campus-pilots/</u>
- Warchal, P., & Southern, S. (1986). The other generation gap: Admissions procedures for adult students. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 12(6), 464-466.
- Washington, D. L., Vallentine Villa, A. B., Damron-Rodriguez, J., & Harada, N. (2005).
   Racial/ethnic variations in veterans' ambulatory care use. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(12), 2231-2237.
- Webber, D. A., & Ehrenberg, R. G. (2010). Do expenditures other than instructional expenditures affect graduation and persistence rates in American higher education? *Economics of Education Review*, 29(6), 947-958.
- Wilson, K. M. (2010). Statement of Keith M. Wilson, Director, Education Service, Veterans Benefit Administration before the Senate Committee on Veterans' Affairs. Washington, DC.
- Wilson, K. M. (2011). Changes to the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill and what they mean for your campus. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs.
- Yorke, M. (1999). *Leaving early: Undergraduate non-completion in higher education*. London: Falmer Press.
- Yorke, M. (2004). Retention, persistence and sucess in on-campus higher education, and their enhancement in open and distance learning. *Open Learning*, *19*(1), 19-32.

- Yorke, M., & Longden, B. (2007). The first year experience in higher education in the UK: Report on Phase 1 of a project funded by the Higher Education Academy.York: The Higher Education Academy.
- Yorke, M., & Longden, B. (2008). *The first year experience of higher education in the UK: Phase 2, Final Report.* York: The Higher Education Academy.
- Zdechlik, M. (2005). Making the transition from combat to college. Retrieved February 16, 2011, from <u>http://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=5006231</u>
- Zhang, L. (2009). Does state funding affect graduation rates at public four-year colleges and universities. *Educational Policy*, *23*, 714-731.
- Zielinski, D. (2008). Virginia 2nd voters see election through military lens. *America.gov*. Retrieved April 12, 2011, from <u>http://www.america.gov/st/elections08-</u> english/2008/July/20080701161810abretnuh0.5098078.html&distid=ucs

### **APPENDIX A IRB APPROVAL**

#### No.: 12-176

#### OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY HUMAN SUBJECTS INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD RESEARCH PROPOSAL REVIEW NOTIFICATION FORM

TO: Dennis Gregory Responsible Project Investigator DATE: August 23, 2012 IRB Decision Date

Impact of the Post -9/11 GI Bill: an Examination of Retention of Freshmen Studying in the Hampton Roads Area Name of Project

Please be informed that your research protocol has received approval by the Institutional Review Board. Your research protocol is:

\_\_\_\_ Approved \_\_\_\_\_ Tabled/Disapproved \_\_\_\_\_ X\_Approved, (Exempt) contingent on making the changes below\*

Moryo C. Maihalit August 23rd, 2012 GRB Chairperson's Signature date

Contact the IRB for clarification of the terms of your research, or if you wish to make ANY change to your research protocol.

The approval is as an exempt study and therefore you do not need to submit either Progress Report(s) or a Close-out report. You must report adverse events experienced by subjects to the IRB chair in a timely manner (see university policy).

 Approval of your research is CONTINGENT upon the satisfactory completion of the following changes and attestation to those changes by the chairperson of the Institutional Review Board, Research may not begin until after this attestation.

\*In the Application

 Clarify the selection of the exemption category as 6.4. Clarify what data will be used by stating this in the comments section of 6.4.

#### Attestation

As directed by the Institutional Review Board, the Responsible Project Investigator made the above changes. Research may begin.

Alorge C. Maihafer September 6, 2012 BRB Chairperson's Signafure date

## VITA

## Kim Sibson

# PUBLICATIONS

- Sibson, K.B., Gregory, D.E., & Kurisky, B.-P. (2011). Retention issues of mature students: A comparative higher education analysis of programs in the United Sates and Ireland. *Journal of Counselling and Development in Higher Education Southern Africa*, 1(1), 59-76.
- Pazos, P., Handley, H., Daniels, C.B., Sibson, K.B., & Hester, P. (2011). Teaching interactively using web-conferencing: The student perspective. Proceedings of the 32<sup>nd</sup> Annual National Conference of the American Society of Engineering Management 2011. Lubbock, TX: American Society for Engineering Management.

# **INVITED PRESENTATIONS**

- Levingston, K., & Sibson, K.B. (2013). Ensuring sustained support for military connected students through the creation of an interdisciplinary military alliance. Meeting the Needs of SUNY Veterans Conference, Syracuse, NY, May 23-24, 2013.
- Kurisky, B.-P., & **Sibson, K.B.** (2012). The essentials for a successful GK presidency. Golden Key International Honour Society Regional Summit. Norfolk, VA February 25, 2012.
- Kurisky, B.-P., & Sibson, K.B. (2012). Successful fundraising initiatives. Golden Key International Honour Society Regional Summit. Norfolk, VA February 25, 2012.
- Sibson, K.B. (2011). Transitioning from the military to student. Old Dominion University Graduate Research Achievement Day, April 6, 2011.

# SELECTED PRESENTATIONS

- Gregory, D.E., **Sibson, K.B.**, Kurisky, B.P.D., & (2014). Increasing international understanding of tertiary education systems. The Seventh World Universities Forum, Lisbon, Portugal, January 9-10, 2014.
- Sibson, K.B., Gregory, D. E., Kurisky, B.P., Doyle, C., Broderick, K.A., & Dickie, E.V. (2013). Retention issues of mature students: A comparative examination of programs in the United States and Ireland. XV Comparative Education World Congress, Buenos Aires, Argentina, June 24-28, 2013.
- Sibson, K.B., Gregory, D.E., Kurisky, B.-P., Gideon, K.A., & Thomas, D.J. (2012). Quality assurance in higher education: A comparative examination of the United States, Hong Kong, and Australia. Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> World Universities Forum 2012. Rhodes, Greece: Common Ground Publishing.